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Chronological Index

Doc
No.

Description Vol. Bates Nos.

1 Complaint, filed 10/08/2012 I AA000001-
AA000008

2 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Complaint,
filed 11/15/2012

I AA000009-
AA000015

3 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss, filed 12/06/2012

I AA000016-
AA000059

4 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Complaint, filed 01/10/2013

I AA000060-
AA000074

5 First Amended Complaint, filed 01/30/2013 I AA000075-
AA000081

6 Decision and Order, filed 02/11/2013 I AA000082-
AA000087

7 Defendant’s Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/27/2013

I AA000088-
AA000180

8 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s February 8,
2013 Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss, filed 03/18/2013

I AA000181-
AA000187

9 Defendant’s Motion to Strike Amended
Complaint, filed 03/25/2013

I AA000188-
AA000192

10 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/28/2013

I AA000193-
AA000201

11 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Strike First Amended
Complaint and Counter-Motion for a Default
Judgment or Sanctions Pursuant to EDCR
7.60(b), filed 04/11/2013

II AA000202-
AA000231



12 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to
Complaint, filed 04/22/2013

II AA000232-
AA000236

13 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Strike Amended Complaint, filed 04/22/2013

II AA000237-
AA000248

14 Minute Order from April 29, 2013 Hearing II AA000249

15 Order, filed 05/02/2013 II AA000250-
AA000251

16 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to First
Amended Complaint, filed 05/23/2013

II AA000252-
AA000256

17 Motion to Certify this Case as a Class Action
Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and Appoint a
Special Master Pursuant to NRCP Rule 53,
filed 05/19/2015

II AA000257-
AA000398

18 Defendant’s Opposition to Motion to Certify
Case as Class Action Pursuant to NRCP 23
and Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to
NRCP 53, filed 06/08/2015

III AA000399-
AA000446

19 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify this Case as a
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and
Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to NRCP
Rile 53, filed 07/13/2018

III AA000447-
AA000469

20 Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
08/10/2015

III AA000470-
AA000570

21 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/10/2015

III AA000571-
AA000581

22 Second Amended Supplemental Complaint,
filed 08/19/2015

III AA000582-
AA000599

23 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed

IV AA000600-
AA000650



08/28/2015

24 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/28/2015

IV AA000651-
AA000668

25 Defendants Reply In Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Second Claim for Relief,
filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000669-
AA000686

26 Defendant’s Reply In Support of Motion for
Declaratory Order Regarding Statue of
Limitations, filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000687-
AA000691

27 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
First Claim for Relief, filed 09/11/2015

IV AA000692-
AA000708

28 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to Second
Amended Complaint, filed 09/14/2015

IV AA000709-
AA000715

29 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Murray, filed 09/21/2015

IV AA000716-
AA000759

30 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Reno, filed 09/21/2015

IV, V AA000760-
AA000806

31 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for
Relief, filed 09/28/2015

V AA000807-
AA000862

32 Defendant Creighton J. Nady’s Answer to
Second Amended Complaint, filed
10/06/2015

V AA000863-
AA000869

33 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary
Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Murray,
filed 10/08/2015

V AA000870-
AA000880

34 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary

V AA000881-
AA000911



Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Reno,
filed 10/08/2015

35 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Murray, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000912-
AA000919

36 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Reno, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000920-
AA000930

37 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for Relief,
filed 10/28/2015

V AA000931-
AA001001

38 Transcript of Proceedings, November 3, 2015 VI AA001002-
AA001170

39 Minute Order from November 9, 2015
Hearing

VI AA001171

40 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
12/21/2015

VI AA001172-
AA001174

41 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 53, filed 02/10/2016

VI AA001175-
AA001190

42 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and For Summary Judgment Against
Michael Murray, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001191-
AA001192

43 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Michael Reno, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001193-
AA001194

44 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/25/2016

VII AA001195-
AA001231



45 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s Order
Granting Class Certification, filed
03/14/2016

VII AA001232-
AA001236

46 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/24/2016

VII, VIII AA001237-
AA001416

47 Minute Order from March 28, 2016 Hearing VIII AA001417

48 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose
Sanctions Against Defendants for Violating
This Court’s Order of February 10, 2016 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order on
an Order Shortening Time, filed 04/06/2016

VIII AA001418-
AA001419

49 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 52 as Amended by this Court in
Response to Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration heard in Chambers on
March 28, 2016, filed 06/07/2016

VIII AA001420-
AA001435

50 Motion to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving Any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
10/14/2016

VIII AA001436-
AA001522

51 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
11/04/2016

VIII AA001523-
AA001544

52 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enjoin Defendants

VIII AA001545-
AA001586



From Seeking Settlement of any Unpaid
Wage Claims Involving any Class Members
Except as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other
Relief, filed 11/10/2016

53 Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings Pursuant to NRCP 12(c) with
Respect to All Claims for Damages Outside
the Two-Year Statue of Limitations, filed
11/17/2016

VIII AA001587-
AA001591

54 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 11/29/2016

IX AA001592-
AA001621

55 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings, Counter Motion
for Toll of Statue of Limitations and for an
Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/08/2016

IX AA001622-
AA001661

56 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorney’s Fees, filed 12/16/2016

IX, X,
XI

AA001662-
AA002176

57 Notice of Withdrawal of Defendants’ Motion
for Leave to Amend Answer to Assert a
Third-Party Complaint, filed 12/16/2016

XI AA002177-
AA002178

58 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings Pursuant to
NRCP 12(c) with Respect to All Claims for
Damages Outside the Two-Year Statue of
Limitation and Opposition to Counter
Motion for Toll of Statue of Limitations and
for an Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/28/2016

XI AA002179-
AA002189

59 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/11/2017

XII,
XIII,
XIV,
XV

AA002190-
AA002927



60 Motion to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of
Defendant Creighton J. Nady from Liability
of Corporate Defendants or Alternative
Relief, filed 01/12/2017

XV,
XVI

AA002928-
AA003029

61 Errata to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 01/13/2017

XVI AA003030-
AA003037

62 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 01/27/2017

XVI AA003038-
AA003066

63 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of Defendant
Creighton J. Nady from Liability of
Corporate Defendants or Alternative Relief,
filed 01/30/2017

XVI AA003067-
AA003118

64 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/02/2017

XVI AA003119-
AA003193

65 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants from
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving any Class Members Except
as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief
and for Sanctions, filed 02/03/2017

XVII,
XVIII

AA003194-
AA003548

66 Transcript of Proceedings, February 8, 2017 XVIII AA003549-
AA003567

67 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on OST to Expedite Issuance of Order
Granting Motion Filed on 10/14/16 to Enjoin
Defendants from Seeking Settlement of any
Unpaid Wage Claims Involving any Class
Members Except as Part of this Lawsuit and
for Other Relief and for Sanctions, filed
02/10/2017

XVIII,
XIX

AA003568-
AA003620



68 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants From
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving Any Class Members
Except as Part of This Lawsuit and For Other
Relief and for Sanctions, filed 02/10/2017

XIX AA003621-
AA003624

69 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorneys’ Fees, filed 02/13/2017

XIX AA003625-
AA003754

70 Transcript of Proceedings, February 14, 2017 XIX AA003755-
AA003774

71 Order Granting Certain Relief on Motion to
Enjoin Defendants From Seeking Settlement
of Any Unpaid Wage Claims Involving Any
Class Members Except as Part of this
Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
02/16/2017

XIX AA003775-
AA003776

72 Supplement to Order For Injunction Filed on
February 16, 2017, filed 02/17/2017

XIX AA003777-
AA003780

73 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Have Case Reassigned
to Dept I per EDCR Rule 1.60 and
Designation as Complex Litigation per
NRCP Rule 16.1(f), filed on 02/21/2017

XIX AA003781-
AA003782

74 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 02/22/2017

XIX,
XX

AA003783-
AA003846

75 Plaintiffs’ Supplement to Plaintiffs’ Reply to
Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/23/2017

XX AA003847-
AA003888



76 Declaration of Charles Bass, filed
02/27/2017

XX AA003889-
AA003892

77 Transcript of Proceedings, May 18, 2017 XX,
XXI

AA003893-
AA004023

78 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 05/24/2017

XXI AA004024-
AA004048

79 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Bifurcate Issue of
Liability of Defendant Creighton J. Nady
From Liability of Corporate Defendants or
Alternative Relief, filed 05/31/2017

XXI AA004049-
AA004142

80 Motion on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/02/2017

XXI AA004143-
AA004188

81 Decision and Order, filed 06/07/2017 XXI AA004189-
AA004204

82 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/09/2017

XXII AA004205-
AA004222

83 Transcript of Proceedings, June 13, 2017 XXII AA004223-
AA004244

84 Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose Sanctions
Against Defendants for Violating this
Court’s Order of March 9, 2017 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order,
filed 07/12/2017

XXII AA004245-
AA004298

85 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 07/14/2017

XXII AA004299-
AA004302

86 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004303-
AA004304



87 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004305-
AA004306

88 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004307-
AA004308

89 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Impose Sanctions Against Defendants for
Violating this Court’s Order of March 9,
2017 and Compelling Compliance with that
Order, filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004309-
AA004336

90 Order Denying Plaintiff’s Counter-Motion
for Sanctions and Attorneys’ Fees and Order
Denying Plaintiffs’ Anti-SLAPP Motion,
filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004337-
AA004338

91 Declaration of Plaintiffs’ Counsel Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 11/02/2017

XXII,
XXIII,
XXIV,
XXV

AA004339-
AA004888

92 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and
Motion to Place Evidentiary Burden on
Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/02/2017

XXV AA004889-
AA004910

93 Motion for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues
for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/03/2017

XXV AA004911-
AA004932

94 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion to
Place Evidentiary Burden on Defendants to
Establish “Lower Tier” Minimum Wage and
Declare NAC 608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed
11/20/2017

XXV,
XXVI

AA004933-
AA005030

95 Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment,
filed 11/27/2017

XXVI AA005031-
AA005122

96 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for

XXVI AA005123-
AA005165



Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/27/2017

97 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendant’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motions for Partial Summary
Judgment and to Place Evidentiary Burden
on Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/29/2017

XXVI,
XXVII

AA005166-
AA005276

98 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Bifurcation and/or to
Limit Issues for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed
12/01/2017

XXVII AA005277-
AA005369

99 Minute Order from December 7, 2017
Hearing

XXVII AA005370-
AA005371

100 Response in Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for Summary Judgment, filed
12/14/2017

XXVII,
XXVIII

AA005372-
AA005450

101 Transcript of Proceedings, December 14,
2017

XXVIII AA005451-
AA005509

102 Defendants’ Motion in Limine to Exclude
Testimony of Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed
12/22/2017

XXVIII AA005510-
AA005564

103 Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Motion in Limine # 1-
25, filed 12/22/2017

XXVIII,
XXIV

AA005565-
AA005710

104 Defendants’ Reply in Support of Motion for
Summary Judgment, filed 12/27/2017

XXIV AA005711-
AA005719

105 Transcript of Proceedings, January 2, 2018 XXIV AA005720-
AA005782

106 Defendants’ Supplement as Ordered by the
Court on January 2, 2018, filed 01/09/2018

XXIV AA005783-
AA005832

107 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Support of Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/09/2018

XXX AA005833-
AA005966



108 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Omnibus Motion in Limine #1-25, filed
01/12/2018

XXX AA005967-
AA006001

109 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Motion
in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony, filed
01/12/2018

XXX,
XXXI

AA006002-
AA006117

110 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine #1-#25, filed
01/17/2018

XXXI AA006118-
AA006179

111 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion in
Limine to Exclude the Testimony of
Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed 01/19/2018

XXXI AA006180-
AA001695

112 Order, filed 01/22/2018 XXXI AA006196-
AA006199

113 Minute Order from January 25, 2018 Hearing XXXI AA006200-
AA006202

114 Transcript of Proceedings, January 25, 2018 XXXI AA006203-
AA006238

115 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Connection with
Appointment of Special Master, filed
01/31/2018

XXXII AA006239-
AA006331

116 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for Trial
Per NRCP 42(b), filed 02/02/2018

XXXII AA006332-
AA006334

117 Transcript of Proceedings, February 2, 2018 XXXII AA006335-
AA006355

118 Defendants’ Supplement Pertaining to an
Order to Appoint Special Master, filed
02/05/2018

XXXII AA006356-
AA006385

119 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Appoint
a Special Master, filed 02/07/2018

XXXII AA006386-
AA006391

120 Defendants’ Supplement to Its Proposed XXXII AA006392-



Candidates for Special Master, filed
02/07/2018

AA006424

121 Order Modifying Court’s Previous Order of
February 7, 2019 Appointing a Special
Master, filed 02/13/2018

XXXII AA006425-
AA006426

122 Transcript of Proceedings, February 15, 2018 XXXII,
XXXIII

AA006427-
AA006457

123 NC Supreme Court Judgment, filed
05/07/2018

XXXIII AA006458-
AA006463

124 Pages intentionally omitted XXXIII AA006464-
AA006680

125 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 04/17/2018

XXXIII,
XXXIV

AA006681-
AA006897

126 Plaintiff Jasminka Dubric’s Opposition to
Michael Murray and Michael Reno’s Motion
for Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/23/2018

XXXIV AA006898-
AA006914

127 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006915-
AA006930

128 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Jasminka Dubric’s
Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006931-
AA006980

129 Supplemental Declaration of Class Counsel,
Leon Greenberg, Esq., filed 05/16/2018

XXXIV AA006981-
AA007014

130 Second Supplemental Declaration of Class
Counsel, Leon Greenberg, Esq., filed
05/18/2018

XXXIV AA007015-
AA007064

131 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Declarations; Motion on OST to Lift Stay,
Hold Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their

XXXV AA007065-
AA007092



Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 05/20/2018

132 Plaintiffs’ Reply to A Cab and Nady’s
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 05/21/2018

XXXV AA007093-
AA007231

133 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 05/30/2018

XXXV AA007232-
AA007249

134 Defendants’ Response to Plaintiffs’
Additional Declaration, filed 05/31/2018

XXXVI AA007250-
AA007354

135 Memorandum re: Legal Authorities on the
Court’s Power to Grant a Default Judgment
as a Contempt or Sanctions Response to
Defendants’ Failure to Pay the Special
Master, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007355-
AA007359

136 Defendants’ Supplemental List of Citations
Per Court Order, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007360-
AA007384

137 Transcript of Proceedings, filed 07/12/2018 XXXVI,
XXXVII

AA007385-
AA007456

138 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 06/20/2018

XXXVII
,
XXXVII
I,
XXXIX,
XL

AA007457-
AA008228

139 Plaintiffs Supplement in Support of Entry of
Final Judgment Per Hearing Held June 5,
2018, filed 06/22/2018

XL, XLI AA008229-
AA008293

140 Defendants’ Objection to Billing By Stricken
Special Master Michael Rosten, filed
06/27/2018

XLI AA008294-
AA008333

141 Opposition to Additional Relief Requested in
Plaintiffs’ Supplement, filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008334-
AA008348



142 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in
Response to Declaration of June 20, 2018,
filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008349-
AA008402

143 Michael Rosten’s Response to Defendants’
Objection to Billing by Stricken Special
Master Michael Rosten, filed 07/13/2018

XLI AA008403-
AA008415

144 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply and In
Support of Entry of Final Judgment Per
Hearing Held June 5, 2018, filed 07/13/2018

XLI,
XLII

AA008416-
AA008505

145 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in
Response to Plaintiffs’ Additional
Supplement Filed July 13, 2018, filed
07/18/2018

XLII AA008506-
AA008575

146 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply to
Defendants’ Supplement Dated July 18,
2018, filed 08/03/2018

XLII AA008576-
AA008675

147 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Judgment,
filed 08/22/2018

XLIII AA008676-
AA008741

148 Motion to Amend Judgment, filed
08/22/2018

XLIII AA008742-
AA008750

149 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial, and for
Dismissal of Claims, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008751-
AA008809

150 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend
Judgment, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008810-
AA008834

151 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend Judgment,
filed 09/20/2018

XLIII,
XLIV

AA008835-
AA008891

152 Defendant’s Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution and, in the Alternative, Motion
for Partial Stay of Execution on Order
Shortening Time, filed 09/21/2018

XLIV AA008892-
AA008916



153 Notice of Appeal, filed 09/21/2018 XLIV AA008917-
AA008918

154 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution on an
OST and Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
09/24/2018

XLIV AA008919-
AA008994

155 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial and for Dismissal
of Claims, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA008995-
AA009008

156 Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Response to
Defendants’ Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution on an OSt, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA009009-
AA009029

157 Defendant’s Exhibits in support of Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution and, In
the Alternative, Motion for Partial Stay of
Execution on Order Shortening Time, filed
10/01/2018

XLIV,
XLV

AA009030-
AA009090

158 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Administration Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009091-
AA009096

159 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, CCards Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009097-
AA009102

160 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Employee Leasing
Company Two, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009103-
AA009108

161 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Maintenance Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009109-
AA009114

162 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Medallion Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009115-
AA009120



163 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Taxi Leasing Company,
filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009121-
AA009126

164 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab,
LLC, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009127-
AA009132

165 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Order Granting a
Judgment Debtor Examination and for Other
Relief, filed 10/05/2018

XLV AA009133-
AA009142

166 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of Attorneys
Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the
Nevada Constitution, filed 10/12/2018

XLV AA009143-
AA009167

167 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims from
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 10/15/2018

XLV AA009168-
AA009256

168 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for
Appropriate Judgment Relief, filed
10/15/2018

XLV AA009257-
AA009263

169 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Response to
Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009264-
AA009271

170 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, Amendment, for New Trial,
and for Dismissal of Claims, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009272-
AA009277

171 Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on Order Shortening Time, filed 10/17/2018

XLV AA009278-
AA009288

172 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on an Order Shortening Time, filed
10/17/2018

XLVI AA009289-
AA009297

173 Notice of Entry of Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009298-
AA009301



174 Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009302-
AA009303

175 Transcript of Proceedings, October 22, 2018 XLVI AA009304-
AA009400

176 Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 10/29/2018

XLVI AA009401-
AA009413

177 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an
Award of Attorneys Fees and Costs Per
NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada Constitution,
filed 11/01/2018

XLVI,
XLVII

AA009414-
AA009552

178 Resolution Economics’ Application for
Order of Payment of Special Master’s Fees
and Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009553-
AA009578

179 Affidavit in Support of Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and
Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009579-
AA009604

180 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule
54 and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/08/2018

XLVII AA009605-
AA009613

181 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a
Supplement in Support of an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs Per NRCP Rule 54
and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/16/2018

XLVII AA009614-
AA009626

182 Plaintiffs’ Ex Parte Motion for Temporary
Restraining Order and Motion on an Order
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009627-
AA009646



183 Opposition to Resolution Economics’
Application for Order of Payment of Special
Master’s Fees and Motion for Contempt,
filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009647-
AA009664

184 Plaintiffs’ Response to Special Master’s
Motion for an Order for Payment of Fees and
Contempt, filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009665-
AA009667

185 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 11/28/2018

XLVII AA009668-
AA009674

186 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Ex-
Parte Motion for a Temporary Restraining
Order and Motion on an Order [sic]
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/30/2018

XLVII AA009675-
AA009689

187 Resolution Economics’ Reply to Defendants’
Opposition and Plaintiffs’ Response to its
Application for an Order of Payment of
Special Master’s Fees and Motion for
Contempt, filed 12/03/2018

XLVII AA009690-
AA009696

188 Minute Order from December 4, 2018
Hearing

XLVIII AA009697-
AA009700

189 Transcript of Proceedings, December 4, 2018 XLVIII AA009701-
AA009782

190 Transcript of Proceedings, December 11,
2018

XLVIII AA009783-
AA009800

191 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Other Relief, Including Receiver, filed
12/12/2018

XLVIII AA009801-
AA009812

192 Transcript of Proceedings, December 13,
2018

XLVIII AA009813-
AA009864



193 Notice of Entry of Order Denying Motion to
Quash, filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009865-
AA009887

194 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Objections
to Claims from Exemption of Execution,
filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009888-
AA009891

195 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims of
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 12/19/2018

XLIX AA009892-
AA009915

196 Order on Motion for Dismissal of Claims on
Order Shortening Time, filed 12/20/2018

XLIX AA009916-
AA009918

197 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Motion for
Judgment Enforcement, filed 01/02/2019

XLIX AA009919-
AA009926

198 Order Denying Defendants’ Counter-Motion
to Stay Proceedings and Collection Actions,
filed 01/08/2019

XLIX AA009927-
AA009928

199 Amended Notice of Appeal, filed 01/15/2019 XLIX AA009929-
AA009931

200 Motion to Amend the Court’s Order Entered
on December 18, 2018, filed 01/15/2019

XLIX AA009932-
AA009996

201 Motion to Distribute Funds Held by Class
Counsel, filed 01/5/2019

XLIX, L AA009997-
AA010103

202 Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
Order Shortening Time, filed 01/17/2019

L AA010104-
AA010114

203 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
an Order Shortening Time and Counter-
Motion for an Order to Turn Over Property,
filed 01/30/2019

L AA010115-
AA010200

204 Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed on 02/04/2019

L AA010201-
AA010207



205 Minute Order from February 5, 2019 Hearing L AA01208-
AA01209

206 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment and Contempt, filed 02/05/2019

L AA010210-
AA010219

207 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiffs’
Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs, filed
02/07/2019

L AA010220-
AA010230

208 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of
Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed 02/25/2019

L AA010231-
AA010274

209 Order, filed 03/04/2019 L AA010275-
AA010278

210 Order Denying in Part and Continuing in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010279-
AA010280

211 Order on Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010281-
AA010284

212 Second Amended Notice of Appeal, filed
03/06/2019

L AA010285-
AA010288

213 Special Master Resolution Economics’
Opposition to Defendants Motion for
Reconsideration of Judgment and Order
Granting Resolution Economics Application
for Order of Payment of Special Master’s
Fees and Order of Contempt, filed
03/28/2019

LI AA010289-
AA010378

214 Notice of Entry of Order Denying
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of

LI AA010379-
AA010384



Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics Application for Order of Payment
of Special Master’s Fees and Order of
Contempt, filed 08/09/2019

215 Transcript of Proceedings, September 26,
2018

LI AA010385-
AA010452

216 Transcript of Proceedings, September 28,
2018

LI, LII AA010453-
AA010519

217 Minute Order from May 23, 2018 Hearing LII AA10520

218 Minute Order from June 1, 2018 Hearing LII AA10521

Alphabetical Index

Doc
No.

Description Vol. Bates Nos.

179 Affidavit in Support of Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and
Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009579-
AA009604

199 Amended Notice of Appeal, filed 01/15/2019 XLIX AA009929-
AA009931

160 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Employee Leasing
Company Two, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009103-
AA009108

162 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Medallion Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009115-
AA009120

163 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Taxi Leasing Company,
filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009121-
AA009126

164 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab,
LLC, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009127-
AA009132



158 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Administration Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009091-
AA009096

159 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, CCards Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009097-
AA009102

161 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Maintenance Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009109-
AA009114

1 Complaint, filed 10/08/2012 I AA000001-
AA000008

6 Decision and Order, filed 02/11/2013 I AA000082-
AA000087

81 Decision and Order, filed 06/07/2017 XXI AA004189-
AA004204

76 Declaration of Charles Bass, filed
02/27/2017

XX AA003889-
AA003892

127 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006915-
AA006930

133 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 05/30/2018

XXXV AA007232-
AA007249

138 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 06/20/2018

XXXVII
,
XXXVII
I,
XXXIX,
XL

AA007457-
AA008228

91 Declaration of Plaintiffs’ Counsel Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 11/02/2017

XXII,
XXIII,
XXIV,
XXV

AA004339-
AA004888

12 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to II AA000232-



Complaint, filed 04/22/2013 AA000236

16 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to First
Amended Complaint, filed 05/23/2013

II AA000252-
AA000256

28 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to Second
Amended Complaint, filed 09/14/2015

IV AA000709-
AA000715

32 Defendant Creighton J. Nady’s Answer to
Second Amended Complaint, filed
10/06/2015

V AA000863-
AA000869

152 Defendant’s Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution and, in the Alternative, Motion
for Partial Stay of Execution on Order
Shortening Time, filed 09/21/2018

XLIV AA008892-
AA008916

157 Defendant’s Exhibits in support of Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution and, In
the Alternative, Motion for Partial Stay of
Execution on Order Shortening Time, filed
10/01/2018

XLIV,
XLV

AA009030-
AA009090

20 Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
08/10/2015

III AA000470-
AA000570

7 Defendant’s Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/27/2013

I AA000088-
AA000180

29 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Murray, filed 09/21/2015

IV AA000716-
AA000759

30 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Reno, filed 09/21/2015

IV, V AA000760-
AA000806

2 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Complaint,
filed 11/15/2012

I AA000009-
AA000015

21 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/10/2015

III AA000571-
AA000581



27 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
First Claim for Relief, filed 09/11/2015

IV AA000692-
AA000708

9 Defendant’s Motion to Strike Amended
Complaint, filed 03/25/2013

I AA000188-
AA000192

18 Defendant’s Opposition to Motion to Certify
Case as Class Action Pursuant to NRCP 23
and Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to
NRCP 53, filed 06/08/2015

III AA000399-
AA000446

186 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Ex-
Parte Motion for a Temporary Restraining
Order and Motion on an Order [sic]
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/30/2018

XLVII AA009675-
AA009689

191 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Other Relief, Including Receiver, filed
12/12/2018

XLVIII AA009801-
AA009812

10 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/28/2013

I AA000193-
AA000201

13 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Strike Amended Complaint, filed 04/22/2013

II AA000237-
AA000248

4 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Complaint, filed 01/10/2013

I AA000060-
AA000074

35 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Murray, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000912-
AA000919

36 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Reno, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000920-
AA000930

37 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for Relief,
filed 10/28/2015

V AA000931-
AA001001



26 Defendant’s Reply In Support of Motion for
Declaratory Order Regarding Statue of
Limitations, filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000687-
AA000691

25 Defendants Reply In Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Second Claim for Relief,
filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000669-
AA000686

171 Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on Order Shortening Time, filed 10/17/2018

XLV AA009278-
AA009288

53 Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings Pursuant to NRCP 12(c) with
Respect to All Claims for Damages Outside
the Two-Year Statue of Limitations, filed
11/17/2016

VIII AA001587-
AA001591

54 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 11/29/2016

IX AA001592-
AA001621

62 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 01/27/2017

XVI AA003038-
AA003066

149 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial, and for
Dismissal of Claims, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008751-
AA008809

44 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/25/2016

VII AA001195-
AA001231

208 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of
Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed 02/25/2019

L AA010231-
AA010274

95 Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment,
filed 11/27/2017

XXVI AA005031-
AA005122

102 Defendants’ Motion in Limine to Exclude
Testimony of Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed

XXVIII AA005510-
AA005564



12/22/2017

202 Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
Order Shortening Time, filed 01/17/2019

L AA010104-
AA010114

140 Defendants’ Objection to Billing By Stricken
Special Master Michael Rosten, filed
06/27/2018

XLI AA008294-
AA008333

131 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Declarations; Motion on OST to Lift Stay,
Hold Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 05/20/2018

XXXV AA007065-
AA007092

108 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Omnibus Motion in Limine #1-25, filed
01/12/2018

XXX AA005967-
AA006001

94 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion to
Place Evidentiary Burden on Defendants to
Establish “Lower Tier” Minimum Wage and
Declare NAC 608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed
11/20/2017

XXV,
XXVI

AA004933-
AA005030

51 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
11/04/2016

VIII AA001523-
AA001544

82 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/09/2017

XXII AA004205-
AA004222

96 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for
Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/27/2017

XXVI AA005123-
AA005165



64 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/02/2017

XVI AA003119-
AA003193

63 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of Defendant
Creighton J. Nady from Liability of
Corporate Defendants or Alternative Relief,
filed 01/30/2017

XVI AA003067-
AA003118

89 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Impose Sanctions Against Defendants for
Violating this Court’s Order of March 9,
2017 and Compelling Compliance with that
Order, filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004309-
AA004336

67 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on OST to Expedite Issuance of Order
Granting Motion Filed on 10/14/16 to Enjoin
Defendants from Seeking Settlement of any
Unpaid Wage Claims Involving any Class
Members Except as Part of this Lawsuit and
for Other Relief and for Sanctions, filed
02/10/2017

XVIII,
XIX

AA003568-
AA003620

104 Defendants’ Reply in Support of Motion for
Summary Judgment, filed 12/27/2017

XXIV AA005711-
AA005719

134 Defendants’ Response to Plaintiffs’
Additional Declaration, filed 05/31/2018

XXXVI AA007250-
AA007354

106 Defendants’ Supplement as Ordered by the
Court on January 2, 2018, filed 01/09/2018

XXIV AA005783-
AA005832

118 Defendants’ Supplement Pertaining to an
Order to Appoint Special Master, filed
02/05/2018

XXXII AA006356-
AA006385

120 Defendants’ Supplement to Its Proposed
Candidates for Special Master, filed
02/07/2018

XXXII AA006392-
AA006424

145 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in XLII AA008506-



Response to Plaintiffs’ Additional
Supplement Filed July 13, 2018, filed
07/18/2018

AA008575

142 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in
Response to Declaration of June 20, 2018,
filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008349-
AA008402

136 Defendants’ Supplemental List of Citations
Per Court Order, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007360-
AA007384

61 Errata to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 01/13/2017

XVI AA003030-
AA003037

5 First Amended Complaint, filed 01/30/2013 I AA000075-
AA000081

204 Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed on 02/04/2019

L AA010201-
AA010207

135 Memorandum re: Legal Authorities on the
Court’s Power to Grant a Default Judgment
as a Contempt or Sanctions Response to
Defendants’ Failure to Pay the Special
Master, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007355-
AA007359

143 Michael Rosten’s Response to Defendants’
Objection to Billing by Stricken Special
Master Michael Rosten, filed 07/13/2018

XLI AA008403-
AA008415

14 Minute Order from April 29, 2013 Hearing II AA000249

99 Minute Order from December 7, 2017
Hearing

XXVII AA005370-
AA005371

113 Minute Order from January 25, 2018 Hearing XXXI AA006200-
AA006202

188 Minute Order from December 4, 2018
Hearing

XLVIII AA009697-
AA009700

205 Minute Order from February 5, 2019 Hearing L AA01208-



AA01209

218 Minute Order from June 1, 2018 Hearing LII AA10521

47 Minute Order from March 28, 2016 Hearing VIII AA001417

217 Minute Order from May 23, 2018 Hearing LII AA10520

39 Minute Order from November 9, 2015
Hearing

VI AA001171

93 Motion for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues
for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/03/2017

XXV AA004911-
AA004932

92 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and
Motion to Place Evidentiary Burden on
Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/02/2017

XXV AA004889-
AA004910

59 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/11/2017

XII,
XIII,
XIV,
XV

AA002190-
AA002927

80 Motion on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/02/2017

XXI AA004143-
AA004188

148 Motion to Amend Judgment, filed
08/22/2018

XLIII AA008742-
AA008750

200 Motion to Amend the Court’s Order Entered
on December 18, 2018, filed 01/15/2019

XLIX AA009932-
AA009996

60 Motion to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of
Defendant Creighton J. Nady from Liability
of Corporate Defendants or Alternative
Relief, filed 01/12/2017

XV,
XVI

AA002928-
AA003029

17 Motion to Certify this Case as a Class Action
Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and Appoint a
Special Master Pursuant to NRCP Rule 53,
filed 05/19/2015

II AA000257-
AA000398



201 Motion to Distribute Funds Held by Class
Counsel, filed 01/5/2019

XLIX, L AA009997-
AA010103

50 Motion to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving Any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
10/14/2016

VIII AA001436-
AA001522

123 NC Supreme Court Judgment, filed
05/07/2018

XXXIII AA006458-
AA006463

153 Notice of Appeal, filed 09/21/2018 XLIV AA008917-
AA008918

214 Notice of Entry of Order Denying
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of
Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics Application for Order of Payment
of Special Master’s Fees and Order of
Contempt, filed 08/09/2019

LI AA010379-
AA010384

193 Notice of Entry of Order Denying Motion to
Quash, filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009865-
AA009887

173 Notice of Entry of Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009298-
AA009301

147 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Judgment,
filed 08/22/2018

XLIII AA008676-
AA008741

197 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Motion for
Judgment Enforcement, filed 01/02/2019

XLIX AA009919-
AA009926

194 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Objections
to Claims from Exemption of Execution,
filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009888-
AA009891

207 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiffs’
Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs, filed
02/07/2019

L AA010220-
AA010230

206 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Resolution L AA010210-



Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment and Contempt, filed 02/05/2019

AA010219

57 Notice of Withdrawal of Defendants’ Motion
for Leave to Amend Answer to Assert a
Third-Party Complaint, filed 12/16/2016

XI AA002177-
AA002178

141 Opposition to Additional Relief Requested in
Plaintiffs’ Supplement, filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008334-
AA008348

55 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings, Counter Motion
for Toll of Statue of Limitations and for an
Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/08/2016

IX AA001622-
AA001661

56 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorney’s Fees, filed 12/16/2016

IX, X,
XI

AA001662-
AA002176

69 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorneys’ Fees, filed 02/13/2017

XIX AA003625-
AA003754

168 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for
Appropriate Judgment Relief, filed
10/15/2018

XLV AA009257-
AA009263

177 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an
Award of Attorneys Fees and Costs Per
NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada Constitution,
filed 11/01/2018

XLVI,
XLVII

AA009414-
AA009552

150 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend
Judgment, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008810-
AA008834

181 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a
Supplement in Support of an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs Per NRCP Rule 54
and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/16/2018

XLVII AA009614-
AA009626



183 Opposition to Resolution Economics’
Application for Order of Payment of Special
Master’s Fees and Motion for Contempt,
filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009647-
AA009664

42 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and For Summary Judgment Against
Michael Murray, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001191-
AA001192

43 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Michael Reno, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001193-
AA001194

198 Order Denying Defendants’ Counter-Motion
to Stay Proceedings and Collection Actions,
filed 01/08/2019

XLIX AA009927-
AA009928

210 Order Denying in Part and Continuing in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010279-
AA010280

90 Order Denying Plaintiff’s Counter-Motion
for Sanctions and Attorneys’ Fees and Order
Denying Plaintiffs’ Anti-SLAPP Motion,
filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004337-
AA004338

116 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for Trial
Per NRCP 42(b), filed 02/02/2018

XXXII AA006332-
AA006334

85 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 07/14/2017

XXII AA004299-
AA004302

48 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose
Sanctions Against Defendants for Violating
This Court’s Order of February 10, 2016 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order on
an Order Shortening Time, filed 04/06/2016

VIII AA001418-
AA001419



15 Order, filed 05/02/2013 II AA000250-
AA000251

86 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004303-
AA004304

87 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004305-
AA004306

88 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004307-
AA004308

112 Order, filed 01/22/2018 XXXI AA006196-
AA006199

174 Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009302-
AA009303

209 Order, filed 03/04/2019 L AA010275-
AA010278

71 Order Granting Certain Relief on Motion to
Enjoin Defendants From Seeking Settlement
of Any Unpaid Wage Claims Involving Any
Class Members Except as Part of this
Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
02/16/2017

XIX AA003775-
AA003776

40 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
12/21/2015

VI AA001172-
AA001174

73 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Have Case Reassigned
to Dept I per EDCR Rule 1.60 and
Designation as Complex Litigation per
NRCP Rule 16.1(f), filed on 02/21/2017

XIX AA003781-
AA003782

119 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Appoint
a Special Master, filed 02/07/2018

XXXII AA006386-
AA006391

41 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify VI AA001175-



Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 53, filed 02/10/2016

AA001190

49 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 52 as Amended by this Court in
Response to Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration heard in Chambers on
March 28, 2016, filed 06/07/2016

VIII AA001420-
AA001435

121 Order Modifying Court’s Previous Order of
February 7, 2019 Appointing a Special
Master, filed 02/13/2018

XXXII AA006425-
AA006426

211 Order on Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010281-
AA010284

196 Order on Motion for Dismissal of Claims on
Order Shortening Time, filed 12/20/2018

XLIX AA009916-
AA009918

124 Pages intentionally omitted XXXIII AA006464-
AA006680

126 Plaintiff Jasminka Dubric’s Opposition to
Michael Murray and Michael Reno’s Motion
for Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/23/2018

XXXIV AA006898-
AA006914

139 Plaintiffs Supplement in Support of Entry of
Final Judgment Per Hearing Held June 5,
2018, filed 06/22/2018

XL, XLI AA008229-
AA008293

182 Plaintiffs’ Ex Parte Motion for Temporary
Restraining Order and Motion on an Order
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009627-
AA009646



166 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of Attorneys
Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the
Nevada Constitution, filed 10/12/2018

XLV AA009143-
AA009167

165 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Order Granting a
Judgment Debtor Examination and for Other
Relief, filed 10/05/2018

XLV AA009133-
AA009142

65 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants from
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving any Class Members Except
as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief
and for Sanctions, filed 02/03/2017

XVII,
XVIII

AA003194-
AA003548

125 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 04/17/2018

XXXIII,
XXXIV

AA006681-
AA006897

176 Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 10/29/2018

XLVI AA009401-
AA009413

84 Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose Sanctions
Against Defendants for Violating this
Court’s Order of March 9, 2017 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order,
filed 07/12/2017

XXII AA004245-
AA004298

167 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims from
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 10/15/2018

XLV AA009168-
AA009256

195 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims of
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 12/19/2018

XLIX AA009892-
AA009915

103 Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Motion in Limine # 1- XXVIII, AA005565-



25, filed 12/22/2017 XXIV AA005710

132 Plaintiffs’ Reply to A Cab and Nady’s
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 05/21/2018

XXXV AA007093-
AA007231

97 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendant’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motions for Partial Summary
Judgment and to Place Evidentiary Burden
on Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/29/2017

XXVI,
XXVII

AA005166-
AA005276

98 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Bifurcation and/or to
Limit Issues for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed
12/01/2017

XXVII AA005277-
AA005369

52 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enjoin Defendants
From Seeking Settlement of any Unpaid
Wage Claims Involving any Class Members
Except as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other
Relief, filed 11/10/2016

VIII AA001545-
AA001586

74 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 02/22/2017

XIX,
XX

AA003783-
AA003846

110 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine #1-#25, filed
01/17/2018

XXXI AA006118-
AA006179

151 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend Judgment,
filed 09/20/2018

XLIII,
XLIV

AA008835-
AA008891

19 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify this Case as a
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and
Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to NRCP
Rile 53, filed 07/13/2018

III AA000447-
AA000469



180 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule
54 and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/08/2018

XLVII AA009605-
AA009613

185 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 11/28/2018

XLVII AA009668-
AA009674

169 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Response to
Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009264-
AA009271

68 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants From
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving Any Class Members
Except as Part of This Lawsuit and For Other
Relief and for Sanctions, filed 02/10/2017

XIX AA003621-
AA003624

128 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Jasminka Dubric’s
Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006931-
AA006980

45 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s Order
Granting Class Certification, filed
03/14/2016

VII AA001232-
AA001236

203 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
an Order Shortening Time and Counter-
Motion for an Order to Turn Over Property,
filed 01/30/2019

L AA010115-
AA010200



155 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial and for Dismissal
of Claims, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA008995-
AA009008

11 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Strike First Amended
Complaint and Counter-Motion for a Default
Judgment or Sanctions Pursuant to EDCR
7.60(b), filed 04/11/2013

II AA000202-
AA000231

24 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/28/2015

IV AA000651-
AA000668

23 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
08/28/2015

IV AA000600-
AA000650

172 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on an Order Shortening Time, filed
10/17/2018

XLVI AA009289-
AA009297

8 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s February 8,
2013 Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss, filed 03/18/2013

I AA000181-
AA000187

154 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution on an
OST and Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
09/24/2018

XLIV AA008919-
AA008994

109 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Motion
in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony, filed
01/12/2018

XXX,
XXXI

AA006002-
AA006117

184 Plaintiffs’ Response to Special Master’s XLVII AA009665-



Motion for an Order for Payment of Fees and
Contempt, filed 11/26/2018

AA009667

115 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Connection with
Appointment of Special Master, filed
01/31/2018

XXXII AA006239-
AA006331

144 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply and In
Support of Entry of Final Judgment Per
Hearing Held June 5, 2018, filed 07/13/2018

XLI,
XLII

AA008416-
AA008505

146 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply to
Defendants’ Supplement Dated July 18,
2018, filed 08/03/2018

XLII AA008576-
AA008675

107 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Support of Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/09/2018

XXX AA005833-
AA005966

75 Plaintiffs’ Supplement to Plaintiffs’ Reply to
Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/23/2017

XX AA003847-
AA003888

156 Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Response to
Defendants’ Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution on an OSt, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA009009-
AA009029

46 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/24/2016

VII, VIII AA001237-
AA001416

170 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, Amendment, for New Trial,
and for Dismissal of Claims, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009272-
AA009277

58 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings Pursuant to
NRCP 12(c) with Respect to All Claims for
Damages Outside the Two-Year Statue of
Limitation and Opposition to Counter
Motion for Toll of Statue of Limitations and
for an Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/28/2016

XI AA002179-
AA002189



111 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion in
Limine to Exclude the Testimony of
Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed 01/19/2018

XXXI AA006180-
AA001695

178 Resolution Economics’ Application for
Order of Payment of Special Master’s Fees
and Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009553-
AA009578

187 Resolution Economics’ Reply to Defendants’
Opposition and Plaintiffs’ Response to its
Application for an Order of Payment of
Special Master’s Fees and Motion for
Contempt, filed 12/03/2018

XLVII AA009690-
AA009696

100 Response in Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for Summary Judgment, filed
12/14/2017

XXVII,
XXVIII

AA005372-
AA005450

31 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for
Relief, filed 09/28/2015

V AA000807-
AA000862

3 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss, filed 12/06/2012

I AA000016-
AA000059

33 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary
Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Murray,
filed 10/08/2015

V AA000870-
AA000880

34 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary
Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Reno,
filed 10/08/2015

V AA000881-
AA000911

212 Second Amended Notice of Appeal, filed
03/06/2019

L AA010285-
AA010288

22 Second Amended Supplemental Complaint,
filed 08/19/2015

III AA000582-
AA000599

130 Second Supplemental Declaration of Class
Counsel, Leon Greenberg, Esq., filed

XXXIV AA007015-
AA007064



05/18/2018

213 Special Master Resolution Economics’
Opposition to Defendants Motion for
Reconsideration of Judgment and Order
Granting Resolution Economics Application
for Order of Payment of Special Master’s
Fees and Order of Contempt, filed
03/28/2019

LI AA010289-
AA010378

78 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 05/24/2017

XXI AA004024-
AA004048

79 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Bifurcate Issue of
Liability of Defendant Creighton J. Nady
From Liability of Corporate Defendants or
Alternative Relief, filed 05/31/2017

XXI AA004049-
AA004142

72 Supplement to Order For Injunction Filed on
February 16, 2017, filed 02/17/2017

XIX AA003777-
AA003780

129 Supplemental Declaration of Class Counsel,
Leon Greenberg, Esq., filed 05/16/2018

XXXIV AA006981-
AA007014

38 Transcript of Proceedings, November 3, 2015 VI AA001002-
AA001170

66 Transcript of Proceedings, February 8, 2017 XVII AA003549-
AA003567

70 Transcript of Proceedings, February 14, 2017 XIX AA003755-
AA003774

77 Transcript of Proceedings, May 18, 2017 XX,
XXI

AA003893-
AA004023

83 Transcript of Proceedings, June 13, 2017 XXII AA004223-
AA004244

101 Transcript of Proceedings, December 14,
2017

XXVIII AA005451-
AA005509



105 Transcript of Proceedings, January 2, 2018 XXIV AA005720-
AA005782

114 Transcript of Proceedings, January 25, 2018 XXXI AA006203-
AA006238

117 Transcript of Proceedings, February 2, 2018 XXXII AA006335-
AA006355

122 Transcript of Proceedings, February 15, 2018 XXXII,
XXXIII

AA006427-
AA006457

137 Transcript of Proceedings, filed July 12,
2018

XXXVI,
XXXVII

AA007385-
AA007456

215 Transcript of Proceedings, September 26,
2018

LI AA010385-
AA010452

216 Transcript of Proceedings, September 28,
2018

LI, LII AA010453-
AA010519

175 Transcript of Proceedings, October 22, 2018 XLVI AA009304-
AA009400

189 Transcript of Proceedings, December 4, 2018 XLVIII AA009701-
AA009782

190 Transcript of Proceedings, December 11,
2018

XLVIII AA009783-
AA009800

192 Transcript of Proceedings, December 13,
2018

XLVIII AA009813-
AA009864



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC and that

on this date APPENDIX TO APPELLANTS OPENING BRIEF VOLUME

XXXVI of LII was filed electronically with the Clerk of the Nevada Supreme

Court, and therefore electronic service was made in accordance with the master

service list as follows:

Leon Greenberg, Esq.
Dana Sniegocki, Esq.
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 S. Jones Blvd., Ste. E3
Las Vegas, NV 89146
Telephone: (702) 383-6085
Facsimile: (702) 385-1827
leongreenberg@overtimelaw.com
Dana@overtimelaw.com

Attorneys for Respondents

DATED this 5th day of August, 2020.

/s/ Kaylee Conradi
_____________________________________
An employee of Hutchison & Steffen, PLLC
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RSPN
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6473
RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C.
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-320-8400
info@rodriguezlaw.com

Michael K. Wall, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 2098
Hutchison & Steffen, LLC
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-385-2500
mwall@hutchlegal.com 
Attorneys for Defendants

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY and MICHAEL RENO,
Individually and on behalf of others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC and A CAB, LLC,
and CREIGHTON J. NADY,

Defendants.

__________________________________________

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|

 
Case No.: A-12-669926-C
Dept. No. I

Hearing Date: June 1, 2018
Hearing Time: 10:00 a.m.

DEFENDANTS’ RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFFS’ ADDITIONAL DECLARATION

Defendants A Cab, LLC and Creighton J. Nady, by and through their attorneys of record,

ESTHER C. RODRIGUEZ, ESQ., of RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C., and MICHAEL K. WALL, ESQ., of

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC, hereby submit this Response to Plaintiffs’ additional Declaration

filed and served yesterday May 30, 2018 requesting various relief.

1. Rehearing on Summary Judgment.

In the most recent round of declarations, Plaintiffs’ counsel has sought various forms of

relief including the rehearing of a partial summary judgment which has come before the Court on

Page 1 of  6

Case Number: A-12-669926-C
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several occasions.  At the most recent hearing of this matter on May 23, 2018, this Court indicated

it would not entertain this hearing again on June 1, 2018.  Accordingly, Defendants will not address

this requested relief in this response.

2. Request for Contempt and Striking of Answer

Plaintiffs request the Court find Defendants in contempt for not making payments to the

Special Master during the stay, and which the Court already addressed in its minute order “the

Court GRANTS a temporary stay to resolve the Defendants’ claimed inability to pay the Special

Master the initial $25,000 required by previous court order”; Minute Order of March 6, 2018, p. 1,

attached hereto as Exhibit A.

As this Court will recall, Defendants requested a stay of proceedings pending the oral

argument that was scheduled before the Nevada Supreme Court on April 4, 2018.  (Defendants’

Motion on OST for Stay of Proceedings filed March 2, 2018).  In said motion, Defendants

highlighted to the Court that it was financially unable to make the initial $25,000 deposit to a

Special Master ordered by the Court.   On the eve of trial, Department 1 ordered the appointment of

a Special Master over the objections of Defendants.  The Court further ordered that Defendants

were required to pay the estimated $250,000 fees of the Special Master.  The Court ordered that it

would not entertain any motion for reconsideration of this order.  

Defendants stated that given the appellate arguments that were pending before the Nevada

Supreme Court to reverse an injunction that was prohibiting them from settling many of the claims

in Department 25, that the work of the Special Master may become moot, and change the

disposition of the matter in Department 1.  Accordingly, a stay of proceedings was appropriate.

The Honorable Court in Department 1 did indeed grant the stay, indicating that the Court

had health considerations, but at the same time a stay of all proceedings would allow Defendants

additional time to accumulate monies for a deposit to a Special Master.  The Court ordered the

Special Master to cease all work.  Minute Order of March 6, 2018, Exhibit A, p. 1.

Since that time, on April 6, 2018, the Nevada Supreme Court has indeed reversed the

injunction prohibiting Defendants from resolving many of the minimum wage claims; and the work

and scope of the Special Master must therefore be readdressed by the Court.  

Page 2 of  6
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Accordingly, Defendants are not in contempt, per the Court’s instruction and orders.

As detailed above (and documented in the Court’s Minute Order), when Defendants were unable to

financially pay the deposit to the Special Master, Defendants sought relief from this Court in the

form of a stay.  The Court granted the relief, and a stay remained in place until last week when the

Court lifted the stay to hear Plaintiffs’ Motion on Order Shortening Time.  Therefore, Plaintiffs’

assertions that Defendants are in contempt are false and inaccurate statements.  Further, as detailed

in the attached Affidavit of Creighton J. Nady, there is no deliberate intent not to comply with the

Court’s directive; it is a financial reality of the business.  Exhibit B.

3. The Reality of the Class Action Cases is a Basis for this Court to Reconsider the Scope

of the Work of the Special Master.

At the same time as bringing their Motion on Order Shortening Time for this Court to

Coordinate the two class action cases, Dubric1 and Murray, Plaintiffs also sought relief from the

Nevada Supreme Court on an emergency basis. (Plaintiffs’ Emergency Motion For Stay of District

Court Proceedings Pending Writ Proceedings Resolution”).  (See Exhibit C) 

The Nevada Supreme Court denied Plaintiffs’ requested relief to stay the Dubric matter. 

Order Denying Stay, May 25, 2018, Exhibit D.  This Court also denied Plaintiffs’ motion to

coordinate the two class cases.

Accordingly, the Dubric hearing on the parties’ Joint Motion for Conditionally Certifying

Class Settlement and Preliminary Approval of Class Settlement Agreement was heard on May 24,

2018.  After extensive testimony and documentation was taken into evidence by the Court, the

Court granted the parties’ Joint Motion.  Such evidence included the fact that this settlement was on

the higher end of the spectrum when compared to those settlements reached by the other taxicab

drivers, some of whom have altogether failed to obtain class certification.  

See Order Denying Class Certification, Department 7, wherein the Honorable Linda Bell

has denied class certification altogether.  Perrera v. Western Cab Company, District Court Case

No. A-14-707425-C.  Exhibit E.  

1 Dubric v. A Cab, LLC, et.al., District Court Case No. A-15-721063-C.

Page 3 of  6
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See Order approving settlement of Nellis Cab for 1133 drivers, with a net settlement of

$195,000, of which Defendant agreed to pay at least 40% or $78,000.00 to the drivers.  Order and

Joint Motion, Golden v. Sun Cab, Inc., District Court Case No. A-13-678109-C, page 8: 22-25. 

Exhibit F.

In the matter of Dubric v. A Cab, the Court approved a preliminary settlement for $225,000

plus attorney fees and costs for approximately 800 drivers in the class.  Exhibit G.

At this Court’s request at the hearing of May 23, 2018, Counsel for Jasminka Dubric, Trent

Richards, Esq., presented evidence demonstrating the overlap of class members between the Dubric

class and the Murray class.  Following Judge Delaney’s preliminary approval, these class members

will now receive notification of the settlement, and have the opportunity to opt out of the settlement

if they so choose.  If the driver wishes to proceed in litigation and a trial, he or she is free to do so. 

However, those same drivers will have the opportunity to receive monies in their pockets without

further delay.

Pursuant to NRCP 23 and Judge Delaney’s ruling, a hearing for final approval of settlement

will be held in approximately 90 days.  At that time, it will be determined which drivers have opted

out of the class, as well as whether the final settlement will be approved.  After that time, all parties

will know with specificity who remains as a litigant in the Murray case.

It is nonsensical to have the Special Master prepare the calculations for a litigant who has

settled his or her claim.  It makes even less sense that A Cab will have to pay for the Special

Master’s time in doing so, when part of the reason a Defendant settles is to “buy their peace” and to

stop escalating costs of defense.  Accordingly, the logical step is to stay the work of the Special

Master until final approval in the Dubric matter, or approximately 90 days.

Here the argument for staying the work of the Special Master is even stronger due to A

Cab’s financial difficulties.  The funds paid to the Special Master have the direct effect of “de-

funding” a settlement to the driver claimants.  Affidavit of Creighton J. Nady with attachments,

Exhibit B.

The estimated cost of a Special Master at $250,000 exceeds the settlement reached for these

driver claimants (which has been deemed to be higher than those reached in other comparable

Page 4 of  6
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matters).  As was indicated at the hearing of May 23, 2018, the remaining class members in the

Murray action, in addition to the named representative Plaintiffs, may be limited in time periods to

2007-2009 and after September 2016.  If this is the reality, it is irrational to have the Special Master

perform calculations for all times in between which are resolved and dismissed, especially given the

adverse financial effect upon settlement funds.  This Court has always been clear in its message that

it seeks to have the drivers receive monies.  Diverting monies to the Special Master will have the

opposite effect.  The drivers have already received $139,998.80 for the time period of October 2010

- October 2012 through a settlement with the Department of Labor.  Exhibit H.  Through the

Dubric settlement, the drivers will receive another $224,529.00 for the time period of April 1, 2009

through September 30, 2016.

To further order a company to pay a third party for the work Plaintiffs’ counsel failed to do

throughout the discovery period is simply unjust and without basis, given that the majority of the

data is moot.

II.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Defendants respectfully request that this Court deny in its entirety

Plaintiffs’ Motion and Declarations to find Defendants in contempt or to strike their answer.  In the

alternative, this Court should reinstate the stay in this matter until final approval is completed in the

Dubric matter.  After that time, certainty as to the class members in the Murray case can be

determined; as well as the necessity of a Special Master.  

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .
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Plaintiffs will not be harmed nor prejudiced in this matter, as the stay will toll their 5 year

rule concerns.  Further, it is likely that as in most instances, the majority of litigants will want to

accept monies to resolve their claims, rather than to pursue an action which is speculative and has

its risks.

DATED this   31st   day of May, 2018.

RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P. C.

    /s/   Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.                 
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada State Bar No.  006473
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145
Attorneys for Defendants 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY on this   31st    day of May, 2018, I electronically filed the foregoing

with the Eighth Judicial District Court Clerk of Court using the E-file and Serve System which will

send a notice of electronic service to the following:

Leon Greenberg, Esq.
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 South Jones Boulevard, Suite E4
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs 

Christian Gabroy, Esq.
Gabroy Law Offices
170 South Green Valley Parkway # 280
Henderson, Nevada 89012
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs

 /s/ Susan Dillow                                                      
An Employee of Rodriguez Law Offices, P.C.
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LEON GREENBERG, ESQ., SBN 8094
DANA SNIEGOCKI, ESQ., SBN 11715
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 South Jones Blvd- Suite E3
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
(702) 383-6085
(702) 385-1827(fax)
leongreenberg@overtimelaw.com
dana@overtimelaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY, and MICHAEL
RENO, Individually and on behalf of
others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC, A CAB,
LLC and CREIGHTON J. NADY,

Defendants.

_____________________________

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.: A-12-669926-C

Dept.: I

MEMORANDUM

Re:  Legal Authorities on the
       Court’s Power to Grant
       a Default Judgment as a
       Contempt or Sanctions
       Response to  Defendants’
       Failure to Pay the Special
       Master

Hearing Date: June 5, 2018
Hearing Time: 3:00 p.m.

Plaintiffs, pursuant to the Court’s instructions of June 1, 2018, provide the

following authorities to the Court confirming its power to make a contempt finding (or

equivalent “sanctions type” finding) against defendants and striking their answer and

granting a default judgment in response to their failure to pay the Special Master as per

the Court’s prior Orders. 

THIS COURT HAS THE INHERENT POWER TO 
ENTER A DEFAULT JUDGMENT IN RESPONSE TO
DEFENDANTS’ ABUSIVE LITIGATION PRACTICES

Nevada’s district courts may grant default judgments pursuant to their inherent

powers against defendants who engage in abusive litigation practices. See, Young v.

Johnny Ribeiro 787 P.2d 777, 779 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1990) (“Litigants and attorneys alike

should be aware that these [inherent] powers may permit sanctions for discovery and

other litigation abuses not specifically proscribed by statute.”)  The presence of this

inherent power to grant default judgments has been re-affirmed, by citation to Young,

Case Number: A-12-669926-C

Electronically Filed
6/4/2018 10:53 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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in a slew of recent Nevada Supreme Court decisions: Hawkins v. Dist. Ct., 407 P.3d

766, 769 (2017); Abid v. Abid, 406 P.3d 476, 480 (2017); Blanco v. Blanco, 311 P.3d,

1170, 1174 (2013); Emerson v. Dist. Ct., 263 P.3d 224, 229-230 (2011) and Bahena v.

Goodyear Tire & Rubber, 235 P.3d 592, 594 (2010).

NEVADA’S BROAD GRANT OF CONTEMPT 
POWERS TO THE DISTRICT COURTS

   Pursuant to NRS 22.010(3) “disobedience” of any “lawful writ, order, rule or

process issued by the Court” constitutes contempt of a civil proceeding.  This Court’s

power to take appropriate actions in response to such contemptuous conduct is not

limited to the penalties (a $500 fine and potential imprisonment) specified in NRS

22.100 and 22.110.   See, S. Fork Band of the Te-Moak Tribe v. State Engineer, 59

P.3d 1226, 1230-31 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2002) (Re-affirming Nevada’s Courts’ “inherent

power to enforce their decrees through civil contempt proceedings, and this power

cannot be abridged by statute,” citing Noble v. Noble 470 P.2d 430, 432 (Nev. Sup. Ct.

1970), and approving of a district court order requiring a $10,000 bond be posted in a

civil contempt situation, a remedy not specifically provided for by statute).

NEVADA’S BROAD GRANT OF SANCTION POWERS TO THE
DISTRICT COURTS IN RESPECT TO PRE-TRIAL CIVIL PROCEEDINGS

NRCP Rule 37(a) authorizes a motion “for an order compelling disclosure or

discovery.”   NRCP Rule 37(b)(2)(C) authorizes the sanction of a default judgment

against any party who fails to comply with an any order issued under Rule 37(a) to

compel disclosure.   In this case, the Court’s Order directing the defendants to pay for

the Special Master appointed under NRCP Rule 52 was “compelling disclosure” per

NRCP Rule 37(a) of the class members’ time worked information defendants were

required to maintain under NRS 608.115.  The defendants’ failure to pay the Special

Master, who was tasked by the Court with performing that “disclosure” for the

defendants, was a violation of an NRCP Rule 37(a) order compelling “disclosure.”

The Nevada Supreme Court discusses the broad powers of the district court to grant

default judgments under NRCP Rule 37(b) for violations of orders compelling
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disclosures under NRCP Rule 37(a) in Temora Trading, 646 P.2d 436 (1982); Foster,

227 P.3d 1042 (2010); and the above cases of Young and those that cite Young in

respect to the Court’s inherent powers.

NRCP 53 GRANTS THE SPECIAL MASTER
A RIGHT TO A WRIT OF EXECUTION

AGAINST DEFENDANTS FOR THEIR UNPAID FEE

The Court may wish to take note of NRCP 53(a)(1) which provides, in part, that:

“....when the party ordered to pay [to the Special Master] the compensation allowed by

the court does not pay it after notice and within the time prescribed by the court, the

master is entitled to a writ of execution against the delinquent party.”

IF THE COURT HAS CONCERNS AS TO WHETHER IT
CAN MAKE THE FINDINGS REQUIRED BY YOUNG THAT
WOULD ALLOW IT TO GRANT A DEFAULT JUDGMENT,

LEAVE IS REQUESTED TO ADDRESS THAT ISSUE

This memorandum, as directed by the Court, is limited to addressing whether

the Court has the power to grant a default judgment in response to defendants’

failure to pay the Special Master’s fees.  As discussed, it has that power if the

circumstances presented constitute a “litigation abuse” by defendants warranting such

action, as per the standard discussed in Young and its progeny or as otherwise justified

in response to defendants’ contempt of the Court’s order or as a discovery sanction.  If

the Court is unsure whether the circumstances meet such a standard, plaintiffs request

leave to document that they do and propose findings to the Court to that effect, that

issue being outside the scope of this memorandum.

The Court also requested citations to specific cases holding that contempt

sanctions and a default judgment either were, or were not, warranted for a failure to

pay a Special Master’s fees.  Such a contempt finding (and order of incarceration) was

issued by the trial court in Patel v. Patel 342 Ga. App. 81, 85-86 (Georgia Ct. App.

2017) but that case (where the initial Special Master appointment was found on appeal

to be improper) is not informative.   Under Nevada Law there is no “bright line” rule

holding that such action by the district court for failure to abide by an order to pay a

Special Master either is, or is not, proper in a particular case.  Rather, the power exists
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for the district court to grant such a default judgment, the question being whether the

particular circumstances justify the exercise of such power.

Dated: June 4, 2018

LEON GREENBERG PROFESSIONAL CORP.

/s/ Leon Greenberg
Leon Greenberg, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8094
2965 S. Jones Boulevard - Ste. E-3
Las Vegas, NV 89146
Tel (702) 383-6085
Attorney for the Plaintiffs
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PROOF OF SERVICE

The undersigned certifies that on June 4, 2018, she served the within:

         MEMORANDUM  Re:  Legal Authorities on the Court’s Power to
Grant a Default Judgment as a Contempt or Sanctions Response to 
Defendants’ Failure to Pay the Special Master

by court electronic service to:

TO:

Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C.
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, NV   89145

/s/ Dana Sniegocki
                                       
      Dana Sniegocki
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SUPP
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6473
RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C.
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-320-8400
info@rodriguezlaw.com

Michael K. Wall, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 2098
Hutchison & Steffen, LLC
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-385-2500
mwall@hutchlegal.com 
Attorneys for Defendants

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY and MICHAEL RENO,
Individually and on behalf of others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC and A CAB, LLC,
and CREIGHTON J. NADY,

Defendants.

__________________________________________

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|

 
Case No.: A-12-669926-C
Dept. No. I

Hearing Date: June 5, 2018
Hearing Time: 3:00 p.m.

DEFENDANTS’ SUPPLEMENTAL LIST OF CITATIONS PER COURT ORDER

Defendants A Cab, LLC and Creighton J. Nady, by and through their attorneys of record,

ESTHER C. RODRIGUEZ, ESQ., of RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C., and MICHAEL K. WALL, ESQ., of

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC, hereby submit this Supplemental List of Citations as ordered by the

Court on June 1, 2018.

1. Cases addressing “inability to pay” as a defense to contempt; and Constitutional rights

that should be considered by the Court before taking of A Cab’s business and property.

Page 1 of  5
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a. Nevada Cases:

Nevada cases addressing the Court’s concern as to “inability to pay” as a defense to

contempt arise in the context of child support payments: 

Rodriguez v. Eighth Judicial District Court of State of Nevada, 120 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 87

(NV 12/9/2004), 120 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 87 (NV, 2004):

In the context of civil litigation, the general rule is that courts look to a party's current

financial status, including the party's income, property, and other resources, to determine that party's

present ability or, more importantly, inability to prosecute or defend an action.  When considering an

indigency application, a trial judge must consider a party's complete financial picture, balancing

income and assets against debts and liabilities, taking into account the cost of a party's basic needs

and living expenses.  Particularly relevant to this inquiry are (1) the party's employment status and

income, including income from government sources such as social security and unemployment

benefits, (2) the ownership of any unencumbered assets, including real or personal property and

monies on deposit, and finally, (3) the party's total indebtedness and any financial assistance

received from family or close friends. Additionally, when confronted with a party who is willfully

underemployed, especially for purposes of avoiding court ordered support payments, additional

inquiry is required. In such a case, it is prudent for the court to consider the employability of the

nonpaying party and what his or her ability to pay would be if employment were pursued and

obtained. We note that while the determination of a party's indigency status is generally within the

trial court's sound discretion and, therefore, entitled to great deference on review, it is also subject to

careful scrutiny when it involves the protection of basic constitutional rights.  Id., p. 4-5.

The language in Article 1, Section 8(5) of the Nevada Constitution mirrors the Due Process

Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution: "No person shall

be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."  Id., p. 5, fn 22.

b. Ninth Circuit Cases:

Jura v. County of Maui (D. Haw., 2014) citing Cutting v. Van Fleet, 252 F. 100 (9th

Cir. 1918) and United States v. Drollinger, 80 F.3d 389, 393 (9th cir. 1996) (attached

hereto as Exhibit A):

Page 2 of  5
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In Cutting, the Ninth Circuit ruled that, if a person makes a showing that he or she is

financially unable to comply with an order to pay money, and that showing is "satisfactory" because

"the inability to pay . . . clearly appear[s]," the person has a defense to a civil contempt proceeding

for failure to comply with the order.  Id., p. 6.

As the Ninth Circuit noted in United States v. Drollinger, 80 F.3d 389, 393 (9th cir. 1996),

this "court should weigh all the evidence" when determining whether Jura has the present ability to

pay the sanctions, which is a complete defense to civil contempt.  Id., p. 14.  When the court weighs

all the evidence before it, including Jura's two declarations and her deposition testimony, the court

concludes that Jura has met her burden of satisfactorily and clearly demonstrating that she currently

lacks the present ability to pay the original sanction.  Id.

c. Other Circuit Cases

i. Voso v. Ewton (N.D. Ill., 2017) Memorandum Opinion and Order (attached

hereto as Exhibit B):

The Seventh Circuit has held that "[i]nability to pay is a valid defense in a contempt

proceeding, but the party raising the defense has the burden of proving its inability to pay." In re

Res. Tech. Corp.,  624 F.3d 376, 387 (7th Cir. 2010) (citing United States v. Rylander, 460 U.S. 752,

757 (1983)).  Id., p. 4.

ii. First Mariner Bank v. The Resolution Law Group (D. Md., 2014)

Memorandum (attached hereto as Exhibit C):

A party facing sanctions for civil contempt may assert the defense of "a present inability to

comply with the order in question." U.S. v. Rylander, 460 U.S. 752, 757 (1983) (citations omitted)

(emphasis in original). A court shall not be blind to evidence that compliance with the court's order

is now factually impossible.  Id.  In such an instance, "neither the moving party nor the court has any

reason to proceed with the civil contempt action."  Id.  It is well settled, however, that in raising this

defense, it is the defendant who bears the burden of production. Id. Thus, in order to purge himself

of civil contempt, a defendant must affirmatively produce evidence showing a present inability to

comply with the order in question. See U.S. v. Butler, 211 F.3d 826, 831 (4th Cir. 2000).

"Conclusory assertions of financial inability, unsustained by supporting documentation, are

Page 3 of  5
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insufficient to satisfy this burden." S.E.C. v. SBM Inv. Certificates, Inc., No. 1:06-cv-0866-DKC,

2012 WL 706999, *11 (D. Md. Mar. 2, 2012) (citations omitted). "Rather, the companies must show

that they acted in good faith and took all reasonable efforts to comply with the court's order." Id. 

Further, inability to comply is only a "complete defense" if the party is unable to comply in any

manner with a court's order. "[O]therwise, in order to demonstrate that they have undertaken

reasonable and good faith efforts to comply, [] the party must pay to the extent that [its] finances

would allow." Id. (citing Loftus v. Se. Pa. Transp. Auth, 8 F. Supp.2d 464, 468 (E.D. Pa. 1998), aff'd,

187 F.3d 626 (3rd Cir. 1999); SEC v. Musella, 818 F. Supp. 600, 602 (S.D.N.Y 1993)("When a party

is absolutely unable to comply due to poverty or insolvency, inability to comply is a complete

defense. Otherwise, the party must pay what [it] can.")).  Id., p.4.

2. Appointment of Receiver held to be harsh and extreme remedy to be used sparingly

Hines v. Plante, 99 Nev. 259, 661 P.2d 880 (1983).

The Nevada Supreme Court reversing Court for abuse of discretion in appointing a receiver:

The sole issue on appeal is whether the district court abused its discretion in establishing and

maintaining the receivership. The appointment of a receiver pendente lite is a harsh and extreme

remedy which should be used sparingly and only when the securing of ultimate justice requires it. 

Id., 99 Nev. at 881-882, citing Bowler v. Leonard, 70 Nev. 370,  269 P.2d 833 (1954).

A corollary of this rule is that if the desired outcome may be achieved by some method other

than appointing a receiver, then this course should be followed. State v. District Court, 146 Mont.

362,  406 P.2d 828 (Mont.1965); see also Hawkins v. Aldridge, 211 Ind. 332,  7 N.E.2d 34

(Ind.1937).  Id. at 882.

        The reasons for the above rules are fundamental: appointing a receiver to supervise the affairs

of a business is potentially costly, as the receiver typically must be paid for his or her services.  A

receivership also significantly impinges on the right of individuals or corporations to conduct their

business affairs as they see fit, and may endanger the viability of a business.  The existence of a

receivership can also impose a substantial administrative burden on the court.  Id.

. . .

. . .
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II.

CONCLUSION

Here there is a simple solution for the Court to merely stay the matter for 90 days to allow

claimants to settle their claims, thereby reducing the work of the Special Master.  Rather than de-

funding a resolution for many claimants, and having the net effect of closing a business in this State,

the Court can permit Defendants to make payments towards a settlement without any prejudice or

harm to those claimants who choose to proceed to trial.  

There has been no contempt or intent to disobey this Court’s orders by Defendants.  Rather,

Defendants are proceeding to attempt to resolve the claims against them, as is encouraged by the

Eighth Judicial Courts.  The estimated cost of a Special Master at $250,000 exceeds the settlement

reached for these driver claimants (which has been deemed to be higher than those reached in other

comparable matters). 

DATED this   4th   day of June, 2018.

RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P. C.

    /s/   Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.                 
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada State Bar No.  006473
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145
Attorneys for Defendants 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY on this   4th    day of June, 2018, I electronically filed the foregoing

with the Eighth Judicial District Court Clerk of Court using the E-file and Serve System which will

send a notice of electronic service to the following:

Leon Greenberg, Esq.
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 South Jones Boulevard, Suite E4
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs 

Christian Gabroy, Esq.
Gabroy Law Offices
170 South Green Valley Parkway # 280
Henderson, Nevada 89012
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs

 /s/ Susan Dillow                                                      
An Employee of Rodriguez Law Offices, P.C.
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, JUNE 5, 2018, 3:14 P.M.

* * * * *

THE CLERK:  Michael Murray versus A Cab Taxi Service.  Case Number

A669926.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.  I received the list of cases with a fair amount

of verbiage from both sides; authorities, additional authorities that were provided.

And I propose that we hear the argument first on the motion for partial summary

judgment and then decide where that leads us in this case.

Is there additional argument that the plaintiff wants to put forward     

on the motion for partial summary judgment?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  One of the things that I’m interested in is the basis for

calculation.  I know it’s set forth in your written materials.  You ask for partial

summary judgment as to the -- and this is only as to the seven dollars and a  

quarter -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  -- amount from 2013 to 2015 in the amount of a hundred   

and seventy-four and some odd thousand.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And then using that as a basis of the 9.21 hours per shift for

the 2007 to 2012 period of $804,000.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, I would propose that that 9.21 standard be applied

if Your Honor grants the request to strike the answer and so forth.  That’s actually

sort of a separate piece of what I’m presenting to the Court.  The partial summary

2
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judgment motion does not depend on any striking of defendants’ answer or any     

of these issues -- 

THE COURT:  Correct.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- regarding the special master default, okay.  But Your

Honor did recite correctly my position.  Candidly, Your Honor, I have nothing new

that I would present to the Court on this, okay.  I tried -- 

THE COURT:  At last.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well -- 

THE COURT:  At last we have stumped the attorneys.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, we did file the supplement on January 9th

to try to distill in a somewhat more precise and pointed form what was concerning

the Court and what the Court was trying to get clear on in respect to the partial

summary judgment for the 2013 to 2015 period, based on our argument on January

2nd.  And that partial summary judgment is based upon there being no disputed

issue of fact in respect to the QuickBooks records, which for every pay period have

a gross wage amount and an hours worked amount.  And if we divide the hours

worked into the gross wage for the pay period, we get an hourly rate.  If that rate    

is less than $7.25 an hour, there is a def iciency and there is money owed.

Now, the reason why I say there is no disputed issue of material fact 

in respect to that calculation for that period, which involves about 14,000 separate

pay periods, which we’ve got something like four or five hundred pages that have

been introduced into the record here line by line, is that defendants at their

deposition swore under oath that those hours worked entered in the QuickBooks

records every pay period were in fact accurate.  They in fact testified they were
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more accurate than the trip sheets and they were based upon a meticulous review

of the trip sheets and the actual hours worked by each person each pay period. 

There is no dispute that the gross wage amount for every pay period is in fact the

gross wage amount.  Nobody has alleged that the plaintiffs were paid something

different by the company in each of those pay periods.  

So therefore there is no contested material issue of fact regarding the

record itself.  In regard to the math, we’ve just discussed that.  You divide the hours

into the gross wages.  It’s either equal to $7.25 or it’s less.  I mean, that’s an issue 

of law.  The math itself is not disputed.  They have the 14,000 lines.  If we made   

an error in the multiplication or division calculation of one of those lines, they were

free to contest it.  They have not.  To the extent that their -- and this was provided   

many months ago, that spreadsheet.  Their expert reviewed it.  He testified at his

deposition that he had examined the math.  The math looked correct.  He didn’t

opine on the source materials because he said that wasn’t what he was in fact

retained to do.

So the only issue that’s been raised in contention against the request

for the partial summary judgment, it isn’t a question of the math in those 14,000 or

so lines, there’s simply an argument being made by defendants that, well, we don’t

know if those 14,000 lines actually contain the true information from the QuickBooks

records.  We don’t know if Mr. Greenberg somehow manipulated that information. 

And this was discussed on January 2nd.  And again, that information was produced

to me in computer files pursuant to a court order of the Discovery Commissioner,

which Your Honor signed over objections of the defendants.  It was an original file. 

We have a declaration in the record from Mr. Bass, who actually took that file and
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assembled the spreadsheet and the spreadsheet then being examined by Mr.

Clauretie, Dr. Clauretie in terms of -- he opined on its proper functioning.  

The defendants haven’t pointed out a single error in consistency,

conflict between any of the information in those 14,000 lines and the information

they produced in discovery.  Defendants say, well, we never knew how to produce

this QuickBooks and Mr. Greenberg had to give us this way to do it, and therefore

we followed what he did but we don’t really know if that’s accurate.  And, Your

Honor, this was the subject of a very contentious 15-month process with the

Discovery Commissioner getting the electronic production in this case.  Defendants

didn’t want to simply turn over the entirety of the QuickBooks records.  They only

wanted to turn over the payroll records.  They said they didn’t know how to do it.      

I hired a QuickBooks expert who actually gave instructions, which are in the record,

a protocol to do this.  I gave it to them.  They followed those instructions.  They 

were free to follow different instructions.  They were free to get another expert to  

go through this production.  

All they’ve been raising in opposition to the foundation of the partial

summary judgment motion, which is, again, their records, Your Honor, is this

supposition that somehow they don’t know if this is accurate.  They need to do

more, Your Honor, given the context of this case.  I mean, they were ordered to

produce this.  They do admit they used the QuickBooks for this purpose.

THE COURT:  Need to do more in order to present an issue of -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Of material fact.

THE COURT:  -- triable fact.

MR. GREENBERG:  To prevent the partial summary judgment to the extent
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that those records show a deficiency at $7.25 an hour for those pay periods based

on the hours that are present for each pay period in those records as defendants

have testified to.

THE COURT:  Go ahead.

MR. GREENBERG:  And again, Your Honor, in the supplement that I filed

you have the relevant deposition testimony that confirms that the QuickBooks

records do contain the hours worked.  I mean, Mr. Nady was the 30(b)(6) witness on

this.  He did testify under oath that the accurate hours were put in the QuickBooks

records.  And defendants were subject to this court order to produce that information

and they testified also under oath that the QuickBooks was used to make the payroll

and did contain a record of the payroll paid.  So there’s no question that the source

of the information, which is the QuickBooks records here, from defendants’ own

admissions and contentions is in fact reliable.  It’s reliable, it’s not disputed.  The

calculations made thereon on those 14,000 pay periods is also not disputed.  It’s    

a question of simple arithmetic.  

Therefore, 174,000 -- those are amounts that’s in excess of ten dollars

owed to something like 340 identified persons out of 500 examined.  I mean, this is

all itemized precisely in the submissions to the record and an order can be entered

accordingly to grant an individual judgment to each one of those people for those

specified amounts.  Again, it’s a matter of law.  It’s all in the records, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  All right.  Ms. Rodriguez.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Good afternoon.
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THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  As I’ve said on our most recent hearings, we’ve been

here several times on this motion for partial summary judgment and I’m not really

clear as to why the Court is even entertaining it again on rehearing or on oral motion

because I went back and I would just like to briefly refresh the Court’s recollection 

of what has occurred.  

There has been nothing new presented by the plaintiffs since the last

hearing on this matter.  I pulled this Court’s order of July 14th of 2017, and this was

the most recent time that the Court denied plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary

judgment when Mr. Greenberg came in here with the same set of figures, the same

spreadsheets, the same time period, asking the Court for partial summary judgment. 

And in the order drafted and signed by Your Honor, on page 3 the Court said:

“Having reviewed the materials presented, including the sample figures provided   

by plaintiffs’ counsel alleging showing how the damages can be calculated as a

matter of mathematics, the Court concludes that it cannot grant the motion for partial

summary judgment.”  Paragraph 5:  “The Court concludes that there are genuine

issues of fact remaining for trial to a trier of fact.  Among other things, to determine

what the correct calculation would be under any of the scenarios that have been put

forth by the plaintiffs.”  And paragraph number 6:  “The Court concludes that getting

to a final calculation takes more in the form of an evidentiary nature, more of an

evidentiary presentation than simply taking numbers off of the column and that

column and performing simple arithmetic.”  

The same thing that Mr. Greenberg is advocating for today, the Court

already denied that motion, reopened discovery, allowed him to -- well, reopened it
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in terms of allowing him to retain experts to see if they could further convince the

Court based on their opinions whether those spreadsheets had any validity or not. 

Mr. Greenberg then went and hired not experts, because throughout my motions on

this issue they have not been designated as technically experts.  There’s been this

game playing as to whether Mr. Bass is an expert or not, so I filed a motion on these

experts.  Mr. Bass was actually a cab driver.  He’s a litigant in another class action

matter and he is far from meeting the standard under NRS 50.275 in terms of

admission of an expert.  Dr. Clauretie, the second alleged expert hired by the

plaintiffs, said he did nothing but review Mr. Bass’ spreadsheets and figured out 

that the math seemed to add up.  

These are not expert opinions.  They are ripe for exclusion and for

striking.  That motion to exclude those experts was set for January 25th, 2018       

of this year.  At that time is when the Court did not rule upon that motion to strike 

the experts.  We didn’t even get to that.  I pulled the transcript from that hearing 

and at that time the Court indicated -- I think this is when the Court went back     

and reviewed a number of records, reviewed everything that had happened at the

Discovery Commissioner, and indicated -- this is in the transcript of January 25th,

2018, starting at page 4:  “The entirety of the litigation process since that time to  

the present convinces the Court that that indeed is not only an appropriate way to

resolve this issue, but is perhaps the only way to accurately -- with any accuracy

resolve this issue and for that reason if that motion is renewed at this time, I’m going

to grant it.”  And the Court was speaking in reference to a special master actually

reviewing the source documents.  The Court again concluded that the Court could

not grant the same motion for partial summary judgment based on summaries and
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charts, the same Excel spreadsheets that had been before the Court a year earlier;

that the only way to find an accurate measure of any underpayment would be the

appointment of a special master.

So here we are not only with that transcript, but I would -- one last thing

I’d like to cite to Your Honor was the order drafted by Mr. Greenberg appointing the

special master.  This is on page 2, if there’s any clarity that is further needed on that. 

“The Court finds that the appointment of a special master is the appropriate solution

to determine the hours worked each pay period by each member and the amount of

minimum wages, if any, that each is owed based upon A Cab’s records.  The special

master is being appointed to report on the hours worked and the wages paid, as

documented in A Cab’s admittedly accurate records, to what extent the information 

of those records demonstrates wages of less than minimum wage and the amounts

of any minimum wage deficiency.”

So the Court already made that determination that that is the only

accurate way to come to an analysis of any underpayment.  Mr. Greenberg is back

before the Court probably for the fifth time asking for partial summary judgment,

without offering the Court anything further to allow a rehearing.  The Court has

already made the determination that there are genuine issues of material fact. 

We’ve presented our expert that disputes the methodology, disputes the calculations,

has shown the discrepancies, has testified under oath as to why they’re unreliable. 

There are genuine issues of material fact, which the Court has already determined. 

So I would ask the Court once and for all to again -- 

THE COURT:  Remind me, if you would, where this -- the testimony that

you’re speaking of.
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  From our expert is -- I’m blank on his name.  What’s our

expert’s name?

MR. WALL:  I don’t know, but -- (inaudible).

THE COURT:  Just -- but I’m saying, the testimony itself, was this in a hearing

before the Court?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Has it been supplied?  Yes, it has been supplied.  I just --

I’m sorry, I’m blanking on his name.

THE COURT:  Yeah, I don’t recall it, either.  But I was more interested in -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  That’s -- excuse me, that’s Mr. Leslie.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.  Scott Leslie.  Scott Leslie.  I could picture 

his face, I just couldn’t think of his name.

THE COURT:  And that was in a hearing before the Court where he testified?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No, Your Honor.  We’ve submitted his deposition

transcripts.

THE COURT:  Deposition.  All right.  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.  So at this time I would ask the Court to again deny

the motion for partial summary judgment for the time period that Mr. Greenberg is

asking, relying upon the Court’s prior orders of July 14, 2017 and the Court’s order

appointing the special master where the determination has already been made as 

to the necessity of a source document rather than charts and summaries.  For a

summary judgment to go forward with the Court it has to be based on admissible

and reliable documentation.  Mr. Greenberg is relying on expert reports to ask the

Court for summary judgment, and those are subject to being excluded according to

the Hallmark case and according to the NRS statutes.  Thank you, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  Uh-huh.  Mr. Greenberg, are you relying on expert reports     

or are you relying on a calculation based off of the QuickBooks and the 9.21 hours

per shift?  In other words, in order to prevail on your motion for partial summary

judgment, do you have to have an expert report or are you relying on -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  -- mathematical calculations using those documents?

MR. GREENBERG:  Just to clarify, the 9.21 hours you mentioned is an

average.  

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. GREENBERG:  That has nothing to do with the partial summary

judgment motion.  The partial summary judgment motion is based on the actual

recorded hours for every pay period, not an average of 9.21 or anything else.

THE COURT:  Well, but the rest of your -- and correct me if I’m wrong, the

rest of your summary judgment motion asks for some 804,000 for the years 2007

through 2012.  I thought it was based on the 9.21.  Is is not?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, when we start talking about anything prior

to 2013, we’re getting the cart before the horse.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  The Court could only venture to consider that if it’s going

to strike defendants’ answer in response to their failure to pay the special master. 

Otherwise there’s no request that the Court grant summary judgment based on an

average for the period (sic) of 9.21 from 2007 through 2013 in the current posture 

of this case.  The Court has not stricken the defendants’ answer.  It has not granted

a default.  If the Court ventures there, I would -- 
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THE COURT:  Why would it be admissible if the Court struck the answer   

but not for purposes of a partial summary judgment motion?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I’m not submitting it wouldn’t be, that it

wouldn’t be appropriate.  I’m just saying that’s not the nature of the request that’s  

in the record before the Court by plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs moved for partial summary

judgment and filed an initial motion and supplement specifically addressing the 

2013 to 2015 period where the QuickBooks records -- 

THE COURT:  Okay, then let’s deal with that time period.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Does that calculation require in order to prevail that the Court

rely upon an expert opinion, or is it a -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I don’t believe it does, but we were before

Your Honor last year and I presented to Your Honor the summary that was prepared

by Mr. Bass, along with his detailed declaration.  Your Honor felt that that was not

sufficiently developed in the record that Your Honor felt comfortable relying on that

in resolving partial summary judgment as requested at that time.

THE COURT:  Well, let me tell you why, then, because also since that time

when the Court denied your motion for summary judgment originally, the Court’s

view was that under the prevailing authority in order to arrive at an accurate

determination that there would need to be the tried and true assemblage of massive

documents by both sides, expert opinions interpreting it and arriving at an opinion

that would tell the Court whether it was accurate or not, and then only then could 

the Court proceed ahead.  Since that time what has become apparent -- well, it was

apparent before then but the complication to this process, the trial process, that it
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has caused has become even more apparent and that is, A) that the defendant did

not maintain those records which are typically contemplated by the minimum wage

act and therefore it was not a simple calculation, and the other thing that’s become

apparent is that the methodology which the Court belatedly agreed with you on,

which is a special master, is frustrated because the defendant claims that he cannot

pay that money.

MR. GREENBERG:  That is -- 

THE COURT:  So -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  So I have to go back and review what else has happened     

in the record.  One of the things that has happened during this last year is that      

on December 7th the Court granted a motion to allow the statistical sampling as

evidence.  In other words, that the basis that was suggested to the Court previously

may not be -- how can I put this -- a statistical sampling of evidence does not give

you that warm and fuzzy feeling that you’ve gotten right down to the exact numbers

and that without any discrepancy you’ve arrived at what a calculation would be.  

But that does not always mean that -- as you are well aware because

you argued the motion -- that does not mean that the Court can never rely upon it. 

In fact, one of the cases which was cited by the plaintiff in connection with the

granting of that motion on December 7th and which the Court cited in its order was

the Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Company at 328 U.S. 680, a 1946 case which

is still good law on this proposition that the Court may allow statistical sampling and

that under the right circumstances the onus may be placed upon a defendant to

come up with evidence rather than the plaintiff.
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Now, what I’m saying is that the Court is looking at the potential ways

to resolve this lawsuit with finality, with justice to both sides as those terms are

delineated and defined by our case law.  It seems to me that arriving at a statistical

accuracy -- I’m sorry, at an absolute accurate number for these things has been

made impossible by the defendants.  The defendants have failed to keep the

records they were supposed to keep under the law in the first instance and they

have stymied the Court in trying to get a special master to get down with the records

that the defendants have claimed all along are the most accurate and come up  

with something that’s more than a morass of documents but constitutes admissible

evidence of the numbers involved.  It’s not enough to say, look, we’ve got a whole

bunch of time sheets and those are the real evidence, but we can’t tell you what the

number is based on those.  That won’t work.  And you can’t just -- you can’t blame

the law or blame the other side if you’ve made it impossible to render an absolute --

absolutely accurate number for what the damages are in this matter.  

And I find that I’m having to re-examine the available law and

authorities that have been given to the Court by both sides previously, and I find  

that in a proper case not only can the Court allow the admission of the statistical

sampling, which I generally speaking tend to believe is what the 2013 to 2015

calculation brought to the Court in the plaintiff’s motion for partial summary

judgment, but to the extent or in the event that that is able to be used to arrive at  

an approximation of the accurate number, as that is discussed and defined in the

Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Company case, that at the very least the onus

then would fall to the defendant to show -- to put forward not a bunch of time sheets

but evidence in the form of a calculation of what the correct number would be.
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I ruled long ago that the liability is proven in this case.  I’m satisfied

that it has been shown.  It is a question of what the appropriate amount of the

damages would be.  So my question to you is, you contend that your partial

summary judgment only extends to the 2013 to 2015 time period and that is

because you could not rely on that sampling and make a calculation for the 2007   

to 2012 period?

MR. GREENBERG:  That is not how I would put it to the Court, Your Honor.  

I simply have not presented the 2007 to 2013 period for presentation to the Court 

for partial summary judgment consideration.  I was dealing with the 2013 to 2015

period because -- 

THE COURT:  And so that’s why I’m curious about why that won’t work.   

And I don’t -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, I didn’t say it won’t work.  I think it would work   

just fine.  

THE COURT:  Well, I assume there must be a weakness to it or you would

have offered that in the first place.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, this case has been so involved.  There  

have been so many steps.  We’ve been trying to digest so much.  I’m trying to take

small steps here, Your Honor.  And just to review in respect to the prior history of the

partial summary judgment request for 2013 to 2015, the order that defense counsel

was reading from July, she didn’t recite to Your Honor that the partial summary

judgment was denied without prejudice.  And the essence of your opinion, the    

crux of your view at that time was that you were concerned that the evidentiary

presentation being made to the Court really should be supported and subject to
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expert testimony and review -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- rather than simply a summary of the 14,000 payroll

periods that was presented at that time.  And we proceeded to do so.  We had      

Dr. Clauretie review Charles Bass’ work.  He furnished a report.  Dr. Clauretie    

was examined and he attested both in his report and in his examination that the

spreadsheets that were presented and prepared by Charles Bass from defendants’

records were in fact accurate.  

And in fact, Mr. Leslie, defendants’ expert, also concurred that the

spreadsheets, the 14,000 pay period analysis of the QuickBooks records upon

which I’ve presented to the Court for partial summary judgment do accurately do

what they purport to do.  And this testimony is recited at pages 10 to 11 of the

supplement.  And I’m reading this to you verbatim:  “So my question is, when the   

A Cab spreadsheet accepts those hours and uses those hours recorded in the

payroll records to calculate minimum wages owed at either a constant $7.25 rate   

or the constant $8.25 rate, using those hours from the payroll records” -- the

QuickBooks records and payroll records are synonymous, Your Honor -- “does it  

do so correctly?”  There were all sorts of objections made.  Ultimately, Mr. Leslie

says, “The math foots through.”  “And by foot through you are confirming that it is

your understanding when the A Cab file uses the hours from the payroll records for

that 2013 to 2015 period and calculates amounts at minimum wages they’re owed 

at $7.25 and $8.25 an hour constantly for all pay periods in each scenario, it is doing

so correctly?”  Again, objections.  “Answer:  I think the math works.”

THE COURT:  So that’s all well and good, but what I’m curious about is why
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is that then -- why does it not work to calculate the 2007 to 2012?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I think given the circumstances that Your

Honor has outlined, the fact that defendants have not maintained the statutory

required records -- they haven’t produced any substitute to evaluate what the hours

of work are.  As in Mt. Clemens, to obtain some measure of appropriate justice 

here, I don’t think the Court has any alternative.  I fully agree that the 9.21 hours

simply should be applied down the line here for every pay period for the earlier time. 

For the 2013 -- 

THE COURT:  What would be -- what’s the evidentiary basis to apply 9.21

hours per shift?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, the evidentiary basis at this point     

is the fact that Your Honor had directed the special master be tasked with actually

finding the true hours.  I believe that the true hours would be more than 9.21 and 

the damages would be larger.

THE COURT:  Well, let me rephrase my question.  Where do you get the

9.21 hours?

MR. GREENBERG:  The 9.21 is the average of all of the shifts for those

14,000 analyzed pay periods.  

THE COURT:  For the two years?

MR. GREENBERG:  For the 3-year period, 2013 through 2015.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  And Dr. Clauretie in his report -- I can cite you to the

page, I have it on my computer here -- confirms that he examined the spreadsheets

as assembled by Mr. Bass and that 9.21 average is calculated correctly based on
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the information in the spreadsheets.  And again, there is no dispute that the

information in those spreadsheets is in fact the same information the defendants

gave us.  Defendants insist they don’t know, but for them to say they don’t know    

or they’re not sure or they suspect that it may be inaccurate is not sufficient, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  But you’re not comfortable for purposes of a motion for

summary judgment with applying that 9.21 hours retroactively to cover 2007 

through 2012?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I am more than comfortable in doing so,

and what I would say actually is -- what I would ask the Court to do is to simply 

grant partial summary judgment on that -- actually, summary judgment in full on  

that basis and simply at that point dissolve any class claims that may exist beyond

that for the individual class members to pursue.  There is no doubt in my mind that

applying -- 

THE COURT:  And that’s because of the eight and a quarter claims?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, because we have an issue regarding health

insurance at eight and a quarter.  And candidly, Your Honor, if I was to bring my

clients individually in here who I have talked to extensively and they testified at their

depositions, they would say on average their shift length is 11 hours, not 9.21 hours. 

But nonetheless, as a measure of substantial justice that can be obtained in this

case and based as Your Honor was pointing out on essentially a massive statistical

sample from 2013 to 2015, we have a 3-year statistical sample of 14,000 pay

periods -- well, it’s more than 14,000 pay periods, it’s over 100,000 shifts actually

worked because in a pay period somebody typically works 10 shifts or more.  So to

18
AA007402



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

figure that 9.21 is a reasonable average to be applied for the entirety of the class

period is more than appropriate.  

And in fact, Your Honor, it is our contention that that 9.21, which

comes from the recorded time from 2013 to 2015, is actually artificially reduced

because we don’t in fact believe that defendants recorded all of the time on the trip

sheets into the QuickBooks.  We believe they did on occasion reduce time that they

recorded for certain individuals and that belief, Your Honor, is actually confirmed   

by their own expert who reviewed 77 or so pay periods.  He actually pulled the trip

sheets, conducted his own review, and he came up with 9.6 or .61 average shift

length during that 2013 to 2015 period for when he actually went through the trip

sheets.  So the 9.21 that I’m present -- proposing the Court use, based on the

QuickBooks records, is if anything too low in terms of the full measure of the class

members’ true average.  But it is an average.  It is certainly a floor that would be

appropriate to use here based on what is available to the Court.  And I would urge

the Court to apply it throughout the entire class period.  

For the 2013 to 2015 period I was focusing on defendants’ admissions. 

Defendants have testified under oath and admitted that what’s in those QuickBook

records is accurate.  It’s accurate as to the hours and it’s accurate in terms of what

we paid these guys.  So therefore they have no basis to object to a calculation using

those two pieces of information, the hours worked every pay period and what they

paid them every pay period at $7.25 an hour doing the math.  And the math foots

through, as their expert stated.  They had been given the math.  They haven’t raised

any objections to the math.  

So I would ask the Court to grant the partial summary judgment for 
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the 2013 to 2015 period in the form already presented, and in the record I have

individual notated amounts.  In respect to granting partial summary judgment for  

the remaining period or summary judgment for the remaining period in entirety at

9.21, Your Honor can make that finding now and I can direct the appropriate table to

the Court.  There will be a submission of something like 20,000 lines of pay periods

showing the calculations and judgment can then be entered accordingly.

THE COURT:  And you’re confident that you could defend that on appeal?

MR. GREENBERG:  I am absolutely confident I can, Your Honor, given the

posture of this case and for the reasons that Your Honor has spoken, which is

defendants have not maintained the records they were required to by statute. 

They’ve also refused to cooperate with the Court’s directions in respect to the

special master.

THE COURT:  Well, that remains to be seen whether they’ve refused or

whether they really can’t.  If I understand what you’re saying, it would -- if the   

Court grants that motion then it would not be necessary to either, A) incarcerate  

the defendant, Mr. Nady, until he pays the special master, or B) appoint a receiver 

to take charge of the company to do -- to make a determination if the defendant

company is able to make the payment, and if so to make the payment for the

company, or to have a special master as part of his or her duties be given access  

to the financial records of all three defendants and to determine whether there was

an ability to pay the special master.  All of that would be unnecessary.

MR. GREENBERG:  Unnecessary.  Yes, Your Honor.  And I think it would  

be very desirable to render all of that unnecessary in the context of concluding this

case.  I’m talking about a way for us to get this case to final judgment quite rapidly,
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presumably within a week or two.  It shouldn’t take any longer than that.  If Your

Honor is inclined to make the ruling I’m outlining, I can have the findings to Your

Honor by next week sometime, along with a detailed statement of judgment for

everybody.  The only thing remaining would be post-judgment matters.

THE COURT:  Well, what about, for example, you have a conspiracy claim

against Mr. Nady?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, what I would propose is that that

claim simply be severed from this case.  We enter final judgment against the

corporate defendants, and if the company is willing to pay then there’s no need to

pursue the claim against Mr. Nady personally.

THE COURT:  Well, realistically let us suppose that the company would not

be willing to pay and you wanted to proceed on that claim.  How would you be able

to do that, given the remaining time for this case under the five year rule?

MR. GREENBERG:  I don’t believe that that claim would be governed by the

five year rule from the commencement of this action.  Mr. Nady’s case would be

severed.  In fact, Your Honor earlier severed the case against Mr. Nady, saying that

that would be determined after we make a determination regarding the responsibility

of the corporation.  Your Honor had earlier entered an order of bifurcation.  The

case needs -- 

THE COURT:  So does the -- when it’s severed, then, or bifurcated or

however we put it, does the five year rule cease to run?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, it’s five years to trial.  If we have

summary judgment, if we go to summary judgment within five years that’s in lieu of 

a trial, Your Honor.  I mean, there is a disposition here.
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THE COURT:  Well, sure, but that gives you from -- unless the five year rule

is tolled as to Mr. Nady, that would give you between now and, what, October 20th,

something like that, to begin a trial on a conspiracy claim.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, we would be prepared to proceed in that

fashion if the Court believes that that is necessary -- 

THE COURT:  Well, I’m not saying -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  -- in the event that the judgment is not satisfied.

THE COURT:  I’m not saying I believe it.  I’m just trying to test the waters

here to see how you would envision this thing playing out.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, it is -- I am not telling you I necessarily

have every possible authoritative answer to your questions.  Your Honor is posing

important questions.  Your Honor is trying to achieve the ends of justice here on all

the issues that are before the Court.  I understand that; as I am doing my best to do. 

What I’m trying to emphasize to the Court is that the circumstances of the corporate

defendant as the employer here as a responsible party are not disputed.  They were

clearly the employer.  Mr. Nady’s liability is completely derivative and revolves around

his relationship with the corporate defendant.  If the corporate defendant satisfies the

judgment, then there is no claim against Mr. Nady.  If the corporate defendant -- 

THE COURT:  Well, then let me ask you this while we’re poking around at

these various matters.  Assuming that the Court went some course other than that,

did not grant the motion for partial summary judgment or did not grant it to the extent

that you’re proposing and still needed to try and see whether the special master

could be utilized, would you be asking the Court to have the special master make   

a determination not only whether the corporation could make the payment but also
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whether Mr. Nady personally could make it, or is that off bounds for some reason,

out of bounds?

MR. GREENBERG:  If Your Honor was to go down that path in terms of

inquiring about ability to make the payment, I would say yes, certainly that inquiry

should be made in respect to Mr. Nady, given his relationship to the corporation.      

I think that that is a completely sort of detour from the course of justice here to

inquire about whether they have the ability to make the payment. I mean, essentially

their latest submission to Your Honor repeats their earlier position, which is that,

look, stay this case, it is more just to await the disposition in Dubric and that will

narrow the claims and that’s where the money should be going with the limited

resources we have.  We don’t have the money.  It should go to fund the payments 

to the class members in Dubric. This is in the interest of everyone, so forth and      

so on.  

If that is in fact correct and that assertion is to be objectively examined,

Your Honor should enter final judgment here and if defendants are true to that

assertion they will then go to the bankruptcy court, stay both of these proceedings.

The bankruptcy court judge will be empowered to take a measure of the assets,     

to examine the transactions between Mr. Nady as an insider with the corporation,

the issues that you’re talking about, and if in fact their assertions to the Court today

are true, that objectively it is in the best interest of the class for the settlement to

proceed as outlined in the Dubric proceedings, the bankruptcy court will do that. 

What they’re trying to do here, Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  Well, I can’t guess at what a bankruptcy court is going to do

on a bankruptcy filing that’s not been made, so.
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MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, my point isn’t that the court, the bankruptcy

court would do that.  My point is if defendants are truly posturing before the Court

the accurate scenario that entering final judgment here and proceeding in this case

is not going to make sense, they can’t pay the special master, the interest of justice

would be served by the stay, by allowing the disposition to proceed in Dubric -- let’s

assume all of that is true, Your Honor.  They will have the opportunity to vet all of

that in front of the bankruptcy court.

THE COURT:  Well, you keep talking about the bankruptcy court.  I can’t

even, as I interpret the ruling from the supreme court, I can’t even take into account

what’s happening in a similar case in a sister district court, let alone what’s going to

happen if the defendant chooses -- defendants choose to file in bankruptcy court.    

I can’t speculate as to that.

MR. GREENBERG:  I understand, Your Honor.  And you’re absolutely 

correct and I don’t think you should.  And that gets to my original point, which is their

assertions that they can’t pay the special master are worthless.  They’re not for the

Court’s consideration.  It’s not about examination of their financial circumstances. 

And if the Court is going to allow this sort of examination, they put in financial

statements when we were here before.  I mentioned that I have other financial

statements that they gave me that were produced under seal and I didn’t produce

them to Your Honor.  Your Honor, if you’re going to examine this issue, they should

be compelled to waive that objection and let me put these financial statements in 

the record so Your Honor can consider them as well and get a full picture here,     

as opposed to the incomplete and inaccurate depiction that they are trying to foist

on the Court regarding their financial infirmity.  
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If they’re not going to waive their objection to my introduction of these

other financial materials, I don’t see why the Court should consider any claims

they’re making of poverty here in respect to inability to pay the special master.  And

we discussed the financial submissions they made to Your Honor when we were

here before and as I pointed out to the Court, those f inancial submissions did show

that there was equity in the corporation of some significant measure, more than

enough to have paid the special master his fee.  

But again, this is not what the Court should be inquiring about.        

The ends of justice require that the law be enforced, as Your Honor has stated

repeatedly.  This is a constitutional right.  It commands vigorous respect and

enforcement by the Court.  The fact that the defendants claim they do not have     

at this point the funds to fulfill their statutory obligation to have kept those records    

-- they wouldn’t have to pay the special master, okay, to perform this $180,000

estimate of work if they had done what they were supposed to do under the

statutory obligation in the first place, Your Honor.  Given that they haven’t -- that

they don’t want to pay for the special master to get to the bottom of this, the default

is appropriate.  We would proceed to use the averages we have been discussing

earlier today and have a judgment fashioned accordingly and that would be the

appropriate way to proceed, as Your Honor was talking about in Mt. Clemens as

well, the principle that we have to have some measure of appropriate enforcement

and relief rendered on these minimum wage rights.

THE COURT:  Why would you have to strike an answer and hold them in

contempt in order to do that if you have a basis for a summary judgment?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, I’m not saying they’re exclusive, but -- 
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THE COURT:  And particularly when, as I said, I don’t know that I have

sufficient information before me to satisfy me that the defendants are capable of

paying and choose not to.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I think there needs to be a presumption 

that they are refusing to comply with the Court’s order.    

THE COURT:  Why would I do that?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, if I’m a debtor and I owe the casino money

on my marker or I owe my mortgage or whatever it is, I pay it.  If I don’t pay it, a

judgment is entered against me.  I mean, Your Honor made an order in this case

that they were to pay the special master.  I had pointed out to you in my submission

that under statute the special master is entitled to an execution against the

defendants for failing to pay his $41,000.  I mean, and that’s a specific statutory

conferral.  As I’ve also pointed out to Your Honor, the supreme court has been very

clear that your inherent powers extend to granting the kind of relief that I’m asking 

in respect to a default judgment for abusive litigation practices and failure to respect

and follow the Court’s orders.  

So, I mean, Your Honor, the defendants have no incentive to comply

with your order regarding the special master.  What is the special master going to

do?  The special master is going to establish the full scope of the liability, Your

Honor.  Why would they want to have that happen?  They have no incentive to have

that happen, Your Honor.  So -- 

THE COURT:  Remind me of what the financials put before the Court by the

defendants are.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  Did it deal with the corporate ability to pay?

MR. GREENBERG:  What we have from the financial statements that were

put before the Court in their submission which came to the Court last week was      

a statement from 2017 and the first quarter of this year.  And what we have is a --

what we have is a balance sheet statement.  I’m looking for it here in front of me.    

It stated that the defendants at the end of 2017 had equity in the business in excess

of three hundred thousand, and at the end of  the first quarter of 2018 there was  

still equity of over a hundred thousand dollars in the business, meaning, you know,

equity over assets in advance of liabilities.

THE COURT:  My question is more to the point of did it purport to tell the

Court that the individual defendant was also unable?

MR. GREENBERG:  Oh, no.  There was no disclosure as to the individual

defendant.  And, Your Honor, in the materials that as I said were produced under

seal, I have some very relevant information I could provide to the Court about that,

but again, that’s under seal and defendants have not consented to its introduction  

in the record.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Rodriguez.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.  Do you want me to speak to some    

of this or -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.   

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, I go back to how the Court can even grant or

consider summary judgment and I want to be clear on that because it seems to me

that the Court is considering liability based on a record-keeping statute.  And I want

to be clear on the record the records have always been maintained.  That’s what 
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the special master is reviewing.  There’s always been trip sheets, there’s always

been QuickBooks data, there’s always been paystubs that have been available to

Mr. Greenberg.

THE COURT:  And in your view that comports with Nevada’s constitutional

minimum wage act?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Absolutely, Your Honor.  Every federal agency, every

state agency that has ever come into A Cab has found that the preservation of those

records is sufficient.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So I don’t believe that the liability has necessarily been

found just with the Court relying on a violation of a record-keeping statute.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I believe that he still has to prove that there was some

underpayment somewhere.  I don’t think that he’s ever done that.  

THE COURT:  Well, if the Court -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That’s why I moved for dismissal and for summary

judgment because I think he has all together failed to prove this case.  And that’s

why it has been sent off to the special master, and he’s laughing on the record here

about the work of the special master and everything that the special master is doing

now at the expense of the defendant.  That’s what Mr. Greenberg should have 

been doing for five years is preparing his case with everything that we gave him. 

Statistical sampling or anything, he’s never done it, Your Honor.  And now the

special master is starting at square one.

THE COURT:  Why is the motion for partial summary judgment not dependent
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on just that statistical sampling?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The motion for partial summary judgment is based on 

the very same spreadsheets.  It’s not a statistical sampling.  We appear to be calling

them something different today.  They’re the same spreadsheets that the Court

already found were not sufficient to support a partial summary judgment.  That’s    

in the Court’s order, that’s in the Court’s transcript, that those -- 

THE COURT:  That was before the Court also then found that based on the

Mt. Clemens that it could do so on an even approximate statistical record.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor then after that finding declared in the order

appointing the special master that that was not sufficient, that there had to be an

actual review of the source documents.  So there are some contradictory -- 

THE COURT:  That would be the ideal to the extent there is a conflict there,  

I will grant you.  I would much prefer to have been able to have this case come to a

conclusion, win, lose or draw, one way or the other based on a stronger evidentiary

basis than a statistical approximation.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I understand that, Your Honor, and that’s making sense

to me entirely.  But we cannot just now change the label of the Excel spreadsheets

and call them a statistical sampling because that’s not what they are.  They have --

we have the testimony showing that they’re unreliable.  The Court has already

concluded that they’re unreliable.  And what the Court asked Mr. Greenberg to do

was to go back and get expert testimony or opinions to -- 

THE COURT:  Hold on.  I didn’t say -- or if I did say, I didn’t mean to say   

that they were entirely unreliable.  It’s that we typically deal with something more

finite   in these kinds of cases.  We have more finite evidence.  And absent the 
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finite evidence, it’s much easier to make an argument that there at the very least

remains an issue of material fact for a jury.  

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But my concern is, Your Honor, then -- that’s why I was

asking for clarification on what the Court is finding liability on on the record-keeping

violation.  But number two is, who is supporting the damages in this finding of partial

summary judgment?  Because by the plaintiff’s own submissions to the Court -- and

I quoted directly from their oppositions, they say that Mr. Bass, who prepared these

spreadsheets, says that “he will not offer testimony on the actual damages, if any,

owed to the class members, but only his work preparing that spreadsheet model 

and how that model operates.”  And they also say again in their own opposition,

“The testimony of Charles Bass concerns not damages but data from A Cab’s

records and calculations upon that data.  A jury, after making a finding about the

class members’ hours of work, may find that information useful in determining

damages.”

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  By their own admissions they’re saying -- 

THE COURT:  Sure, but you’re still under the old evidentiary standard of what

this Court would require and every court would require if you had the capability of

arriving at a finite answer.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But a summary judgment must be based on some type 

of evidence, and what I am trying to bring to -- 

THE COURT:  And Mt. Clemens says that it can be -- that judgment may be

rendered on an approximation through a statistical type of sampling.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And who is offering that to the Court?  Not his experts.
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THE COURT:  I think the plaintiff.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  His experts say they’re not going to testify about that. 

They say all they -- 

THE COURT:  Well, that’s what Bass says.  What does Clauretie say?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Clauretie says I looked at what Bass did and the math

looks right to me.  The same quotes that he had about my expert -- 

THE COURT:  Is Clauretie not an expert?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Clauretie is an economist.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  What they are wanting to support a summary judgment   

is an Excel spreadsheet.  Clauretie has no authority, no expert qualifications to 

speak to an Excel spreadsheet and a tool and the calculations, the mathematics,  

the arithmetic that goes into an Excel spreadsheet.  And that’s what they hired him 

to talk about, to say Mr. Bass walked me through his calculations and they look   

right to me.  Yes, Dr. Clauretie is qualified to talk about economics and his area of

expertise.  He’s very qualified in that area.  But this is not an economist type of

opinion that they’re soliciting from Dr. Clauretie. That’s why I’ve asked the Court to -- 

THE COURT:  Why is it not an economist type opinion?  

You’re going to need to speak to that, too, when I come back to you.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, Your Honor, I have extensively briefed this issue

why these two experts do not qualify under the statutes and under our case law. 

And I can cite to the Court again the case law, but it’s been briefed as to why the

opinions that they attempt to render are not expert opinions.  I pulled things right 

out of their depositions that say they’re not offering opinions, they’re not -- all they’re
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doing is rubber stamping what Mr. Greenberg brought to the Court the first time.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And the Court said you can’t do this, you need an expert

to do it.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So then there was -- every one of these experts, when     

I deposed them I said what kind of investigation did you do to acquire your opinions? 

Did you talk to any of the plaintiffs?  Did you look at any of the records?  Did you

look at any of the data?

THE COURT:  Is that required if you’re doing an approximation of damages?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Absolutely.  You have to look at data.  You have to do

some kind of independent research.  You have to be helpful to the trier of fact. 

There’s a whole litany, as Your Honor I’m sure is aware, of everything that an 

expert has to do to qualify.  These guys did nothing but speak to Mr. Greenberg,

who explained items to Mr. Bass, Mr. Bass explained them to Dr. Clauretie, and

there they say voila, we have an expert report.  But we’re back to relying upon the

same original spreadsheets that basically Mr. Greenberg put together.

THE COURT:  Do either of you know what the statistical sampling was in   

the Mt. Clemens case?  The Supreme Court, U.S. Supreme Court.  I don’t recall.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, my recollection is it’s discussed in the Court

of Appeals opinion.  I believe there were several hundred employees there and they

took testimony from maybe two dozen to arrive at some inference as to what this

off-the-clock unrecorded time amounted to, Your Honor.  And that’s fairly typical in

these kind of cases.
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THE COURT:  And did it include expert opinions?

MR. GREENBERG:  It did not, Your Honor.  And in respect to answering   

this question about expert opinion and testimony, the work done by Charles Bass,

Charles Bass is a database computer software technician or an expert.  He’s

certainly qualified in that area.  So his job was to take the QuickBooks records      

as produced by defendants and do the division, you know, the hours for every pay

period divided into the gross wages for every pay period, and then tell us does it

meet the $7.25 or the $8.25 amount.  If it doesn’t, tell us what the deficiency was  

for the pay period.  As was discussed with Mr. Scott (sic) at his deposition, as I was

reciting the testimony from their expert as well, he performed that job accurately. 

There is no dispute he performed that job accurately.

THE COURT:  Did Mr. Clauretie offer expert opinion?

MR. GREENBERG:  He offered an expert opinion in respect to the work of

Charles Bass.  His expert report indicates he reviewed -- 

THE COURT:  And you’re satisfied that’s within the expertise of an

economist?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, I am.  And also he did offer an opinion on one

area, Your Honor, in his report, which is that he examined the -- what we would call

distortion that would come from using an average because we had certain what are

called cab manager in and out times, which we’re not relying in respect to the partial

summary judgment, but he compared the cab manager in and out times, which were

about 11 hours on average.  He compared the actual cab manager in and out times

to a uniform average applying the same 11 hours per shift to see if it would greatly

diverge in terms of the end results.  What he found is that the end results in terms 
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of damage calculations came out within a few percentage points.  And this is

discussed at I believe page 30 of his expert report.  I have it here on my computer.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  So he did offer an expert opinion on something that is  

a matter of expertise, but the issue of what information is in defendants’ records in

terms of -- the QuickBooks records, I’m talking, in terms of how many hours did the

defendants record these people working every pay period and what did they pay

them.  That’s not an issue of expert opinion.  I mean, Mr. Bass -- they took Mr. Bass’

deposition as well, Your Honor, he’s not an expert on minimum wage.  I mean, he

doesn’t even necessarily know that $7.25 or $8.25 is the required minimum wage  

or when the minimum wage should be paid.  He’s not presented as an expert in  

that area.  Nor is Dr. Clauretie for that matter, either.  They were only brought to 

give testimony, a report in this case in respect to their review of defendants’ records  

 and that’s it, Your Honor.  And for that point, as I said, Dr. Clauretie did also offer   

an opinion regarding the fact that the use of an average would not create any

significant distortion of damages, based on the information that was presented to

him.  He did provide an opinion on that point, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  So what’s the comparison between this kind of evidence and

what they said was sufficient in the Mt. Clemens?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I would actually submit in respect to the

2013 to 2015 period we’re discussing this evidence is far more compelling and

precise than what was submitted in Mt. Clemens.  In Mt. Clemens essentially       

you had individuals coming in making statements, testimony as to average

approximations of what these time periods were that people were working, and   
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then a finding being made by a finder of fact based upon accepting, you know,  

those assertions and weighing the veracity, the strength of such testimonial

evidence.  

Here we’re not relying on testimonial evidence at all, or to the extent

we are it’s defendants’ testimony.  Defendants’ testimony.  Again, it’s in the

depositions, it’s in the record in my supplement.  These QuickBooks records

accurately set forth the amount of hours each of these guys worked every pay

period.  And it also contains the amount they were paid every pay period.  They

were ordered by the Court to produce it.  They did produce it pursuant to the Court

order.  They can’t now say it’s not accurate or they don’t know if they produced    

the right documents.  They’re bound by their own records, Your Honor.  I mean,   

I’m relying on defendants’ business records, their own testimony, their own

authentication as to the accuracy of these materials, the QuickBooks records for 

the 2013 to 2015 period.  That is the basis for the partial summary judgment motion

that’s been submitted, briefed, supplemented to the Court.  

In respect to the broader issue of the average to be drawn from that

and applying the judgment throughout the case on that basis, we can discuss that

and I can address that further.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  But that’s somewhat of a secondary issue, a different

issue.

THE COURT:  All right, thank you.

Ms. Rodriguez.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor, I just want to answer the Court’s concern
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because I did -- about Dr. Clauretie and what he purported to opine about, and

throughout his deposition basically all he’s saying is he didn’t do any independent

work.  He is just rubber-stamping what Mr. Bass did.

THE COURT:  Did he say he was rubber-stamping?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I would like to read for you from the deposition of

Terrence Clauretie, page 36, starting at line 16.  I asked him what his assignment

was and he said, “My assignment was not to opine on the relevance of the

scenarios themselves.  For example, he, Bass, made once an area where he

assumed that everybody’s minimum wage should have been $7.25 an hour.  Then

he made another calculation that everybody should have -- a minimum wage of

$8.25 an hour.  My assignment was not to consider the reasonableness of  those

particular calculations, but were they done mathematically correct.  That’s about it,

were they mathematically correctly done.”

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That’s all he said he basically did.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And what more would he have to have said or what

more of an opinion would be necessary to make that -- the conclusions drawn, the

mathematical work done -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That’s not an expert opinion, Your Honor.  I mean, that

falls way short of an expert opinion.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And he’s not qualified.  He says he’s -- 

THE COURT:  Let’s assume for the moment that it does.  So what?  

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Okay.  So if Clauretie -- 
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THE COURT:  What’s wrong with relying on that?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  If Clauretie is not doing anything but just checking       

Mr. Bass’ math.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And Mr. Greenberg continues to reference Mr. Scott’s,

Leslie Scott’s -- Scott Leslie’s approval of the math -- and he kind of brushed over

my objections.  My objections was that he had already asked the question five times

and Mr. Scott (sic) had said all of the problems that were wrong with the math, until

he finally said, well, if you add up A and B, does the math add up?  And Mr. Scott

(sic) finally conceded and said, well, I guess if you do those factors, yeah, I guess

that would add up.  So there’s no expert that is needed to say one plus one is  

equal to two, but the problem is the underlying sources that go into those particular

spreadsheets.  So Dr. Clauretie said I didn’t look at any of that, I didn’t study any   

of that.  

THE COURT:  And if the underlying sources include the QuickBooks provided

by the defendants -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.  I’m getting to that, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Because Dr. Clauretie said I didn’t do any evaluation,      

I didn’t look at anything.  All I did was check what Mr. Bass did; rubber-stamped it.  

It looks good to me, I’ll -- 

THE COURT:  He said he rubber-stamped it, huh?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  He probably didn’t use those words, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Okay.
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I’m not going to fib to the Court.  I would love to find a

question where I said did you basically rubber-stamp it, so I’ll do a search when       

I go back to see if I asked that question.

Mr. Bass, though, if we go back to Mr. Bass, who prepared the Excel

spreadsheets, I walked him through twenty different things of what did you do

independently to put this spreadsheet together.  What sources did you look at, what

independent investigation; anything to get him qualified for an expert.  The final

question after he says, I did not, I did not, I did not, I didn’t look at any of that:  “So,

would it be fair to say that all of the sources, sources of information that you relied

upon in formulating your model were provided from Mr. Greenberg?”  “Answer: 

That’s fair, yes.”  And that’s basically what he said is that Mr. Greenberg told him

how to set up what he wanted, what to plug in.  And that’s been the problem with 

the reliability.  Mr. Greenberg -- 

THE COURT:  And where did Mr. Greenberg get the information?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I don’t know, Your Honor.  That’s the million dollar

question.  And that’s -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So it’s not obvious from looking at the document where

the -- what statistical source was used?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That’s why -- that’s what we argued previously before the

Court because we argued there’s no way to tell what portions Mr. Greenberg chose

to plug into these spreadsheets.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  He asserts it’s portions of the QuickBooks data that is

given by the defendants.  Short of going line by line, we don’t know what he’s using. 
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And the Court agreed a year ago that this was an issue -- 

THE COURT:  I caution you against returning to that because I’ve already

given the explanation for the degree of accuracy that the Court was intent on  

having these parties present to a jury on that, and that has proven to be impossible. 

So the question becomes is that what’s required?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well -- 

THE COURT:  And as I read the law it apparently is not in all cases.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I think at the end of the day what we’ve done, Your

Honor, is what we’ve been fighting all along, is the shifting of the burden to disprove

to the defendant.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  From the commencement of the case the burden of proof

is upon the plaintiffs, and throughout this litigation they’ve attempted to shift the

burden of proof.  At the end of the day the Court’s reasoning is that now is going   

to accept the statistical sampling and we as the defendants have to disprove any

errors in the sampling as to why it’s wrong.  So essentially we will end up with

shifting the burden of proof, which is what the plaintiffs have advocated all along.      

I would assert to the Court that that is unjust and unfair at this point

because it’s based on the plaintiffs’ failure to properly prepare their case over five

years.  They’ve had the records.  They could have done their statistical sampling

even with their own experts.  I think the Court even allowed them another

opportunity to go out and have the appropriate experts do what they needed to     

do  to say this is why this is valid data.  They didn’t do that.  They failed to do that,

Your Honor.  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  Let me ask you a question, Mr. Greenberg.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Is the document that contains the information, the numbers,

the statistical information which was given to Mr. Bass, does that -- are the sources

for that information self-evident from the document?  And are they -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, they are identified by Mr. Bass in a sworn

declaration which is included with Dr. Clauretie’s report.  This is in paragraph 3: 

“The two Excel files provided to me by Leon Greenberg that I summarized” --

because his job was to summarize the information, produce that 14,000 line

analysis -- “are named.”  And he gives the name which was created on October  

3rd, modified on that date, and is fourteen thousand -- fourteen million, six hundred

thirty-three thousand, zero hundred and thirty-nine bytes in size.  He is identifying

the particular computer file that I gave him with the exact name, as given to me by

the defendants with its date of creation and its exact size.  These are the files that

they gave me.  I gave them to him.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So you’re saying, if I’m understanding, that everything

that you gave to the -- that you gave to Mr. Bass or Mr. Clauretie was directly

obtained from the defense.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, it was.  And Mr. Bass identifies the two files that he

worked with, the QuickBooks files we’ve been discussing.  They were in two Excel

files.  He identifies them precisely by name, size, date, creation, as given to me by

defendants.  I turned them over to him.  Defendants have not disputed that those

are in fact the identification of those files.  They haven’t disputed that the results,

those 14,000 lines that Mr. Bass summarized, contain any information that is not
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consistent with the information in those two files they gave me, which again were

produced pursuant to the order of this Court.  So the evidentiary chain here, the

chain of custody if you wish to call it, is in the record.  I made it a point to be sure

that this was here because I understand the Court needs to be concerned that this

is all documented.  And I worked very hard to make sure it is in the record, Your

Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  So this assertion that it’s not by defendants just doesn’t

have any basis.

THE COURT:  Ms. Rodriguez, any rejoinder to that?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, just that I hear a key word coming out of Mr.

Greenberg’s mouth, and that is “summarized.”  This is not the actual data.  He said

what Mr. Bass summarized.  And that’s been the dispute is we don’t know what Mr.

Bass summarized.  So then -- 

THE COURT:  We don’t know what he summarized?  We don’t know what -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No, Your Honor.  We’ve turned over several data blocks,

for lack of a better term, of QuickBooks data.  We’ve turned over, as Your Honor

knows, lots of data.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So I don’t know what Mr. Bass -- 

THE COURT:  And they were not -- so I assumed that we were talking about

a spreadsheet with columns, if you will, of data points that were provided by the

defense to the plaintiff.  Is that not the case, Mr. Greenberg?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, the summarization -- again, we’re talking
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this 3-year period, 2013 through 2015, okay.  Defendants produced a lot of

information -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- okay, that Mr. Bass did summarize and assemble. 

For example, a taxi driver in the same period, pay period got paid commissions.   

He may have gotten paid a bonus.  He may have gotten paid some other special

reward, okay.  So all of those items of payment which are separately identified in

defendants’ records have to be added together -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- to determine what his total compensation was for the

pay period.  This is discussed in Dr. Clauretie’s report.  There is a long list of every

single item in the data that was compiled together to arrive at the total payment

received by the -- 

THE COURT:  Compiled by whom?

MR. GREENBERG:  By Charles Bass.

THE COURT:  Does that involve anything more than adding them up?

MR. GREENBERG:  It does not involve anything more than adding them up. 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, the payroll data also included things such

as deductions, child support payments, tax payments.  Mr. Bass didn’t need to

consult or summarize any of that because it’s not relevant to the issues in this case. 

So, yes, there is a great deal of data that we received from defendants that aren’t  

in that 14,000 line summary which, you know, I can show Your Honor the output

here if you don’t have it in front of you, that shows, you know, week by week again
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this calculation, gross wages, hours, deficiency if any at the $7.25 or $8.25 an hour

rate, Your Honor.  So defendants have not pointed to any error in any of those

14,000 lines.  And again, this was -- 

THE COURT:  Or anything which is not identified as to its source?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, the source is all -- the source for everything in that

final work by Mr. Bass is those two Excel files we were just discussing which are

identified in his declaration by date, size; it’s specifically given title by the defendants.

THE COURT:  All right.  Okay, Ms. Rodriguez.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, our expert did point out some errors by sampling

certain ones.  And Mr. Greenberg even talked about that earlier to the Court, that 

Mr. Leslie pulled out certain examples where the numbers did not add up.  But I will

refresh the Court’s recollection that Your Honor looked at those Excel spreadsheets,

what he’s purporting to explain now.  We took a break -- I think it was in that January

2017 where Your Honor went and looked at these things and just decided they  

didn’t make sense.  They weren’t adding up.  And it’s not a simple formula as Mr.

Greenberg has indicated.

THE COURT:  That they didn’t even add up?  Is that what I indicated?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That they didn’t make sense.

THE COURT:  They didn’t make sense.

MR. WALL:  Your Honor, may I just add, if you’d look at the transcript we had

a several day break and then you came back and you said specifically I’m trying to

make the numbers work and I can’t do it.  And you asked Mr. Greenberg, explain  

the numbers to me so I can figure out how they work, and he wasn’t able to do it.

THE COURT:  Hmm.  Mr. Greenberg.
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MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, again, they’re referring to the background 

of the compilation of the data.  This is the spreadsheet.  I mean, I guess I could put

it on the projector or I could show it to you.  This is, you know, 300 pages here of 

the 14,000 line-by-line.

THE COURT:  Do you recall them -- what they’re talking about where I took  

a break and came back and said I can’t make it work?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, because there is in fact -- I referred to the

declaration of Mr. Bass where he talks about the origin of the source material in

paragraph 3, and then he goes on to explain the calculations that are made in

columns B through M or so on this, okay.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  And he then explains how he sorted the data and how 

he then arranged it and the information that he compiled, those various commissions,

bonuses, etcetera, to come up with the gross wage amounts.  You found the

declaration and the detail provided in there to not be sufficiently clear to you at that

time and denied the partial summary judgment without prejudice -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- again offering us the opinion that you thought that   

this should be subject to further scrutiny, evidentiary review, expert testimony and

development, which it was, Your Honor.  And Dr. -- the purpose of Dr. Clauretie’s

report was to go through the methodology used by Charles Bass, furnish a formal

report, which was 30 pages, explaining that he examined the end product here,  

what Charles Bass produced.  He examined the source material, the Excel files.    

He walked through the process with Charles Bass that Charles Bass used to get 
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from the source data to the end result.  He found that it was mathematically correct

and made sense.  

And their expert, Mr. Scott (sic), ultimately agrees that the numbers 

add up and that it was done correctly.  When defense counsel is saying  that Mr.

Scott identified errors, he didn’t identify any errors in Mr. Bass’ work from the source

material to the summary.  What she’s talking about is again this issue of whether 

the source material itself is accurate because we keep getting back to this insistence

by defendants that you can only rely on the trip sheets.  And Mr. Scott -- all Mr. 

Scott did, their expert, was just look at the trip sheets, and he did in fact come up

with instances where the trip sheets showed more time recorded.  As I was saying,    

he came up -- he studied 77 pay periods and came up with an average of 9.6,    

and in those 77 pay periods most of them showed more time worked than in        

the QuickBooks records, even though defendants testified under oath that the

QuickBooks records were accurate in respect to the hours worked.  But that’s          

a completely different issue, Your Honor.  Defendants should be bound by their

representations under oath as to the accuracy of these QuickBooks records. They

can’t now say they’re not accurate.  And in terms of the -- 

THE COURT:  I don’t perceive them as trying to say that.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, okay, Your Honor.  I understand Your Honor is

trying very hard -- would you like me to present to you this -- 

THE COURT:  No.  You’ve actually already explained.

MR. GREENBERG:  There is no material issue of fact, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Now, let me ask this question, though.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.
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THE COURT:  Does this last round of back and forth suggest to you that

there is any error or weakness in the Court applying the 9.21 hours per average 

shift number for -- in other words, to arrive at the damages from 2007 to 2012?

MR. GREENBERG:  There is not, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GREENBERG:  I would not hesitate for the Court to do that and I would

urge the Court to do so and simply limit the class judgment accordingly.  And to the

extent that any class member wants to assert that they have a claim for something

based on something more than that because they claim their hours of work were

more or they claim that they were entitled to the $8.25 an hour rate relating to their

health insurance status, that they simply be -- remain free to litigate those issues

individually, and we would enter judgment for the class accordingly and can bring

this case to final judgment.  I had also requested an interim award of $100,000 in

class counsel fees if partial summary judgment -- 

THE COURT:  A hundred and thirty-five.

MR. GREENBERG:  A hundred and thirty-five, Your Honor, is more attentive 

than myself.  

THE COURT:  Well, for costs.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, I have $50,000 in costs in this case, Your Honor, 

as part of the immediate entry of the order for partial summary judgment.  We get   

to final judgment.  There will then of course be a post-judgment request for

assessment of attorney’s fees that Your Honor will hear -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- and I will submit documentation on.
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THE COURT:  All right.  It’s your motion, but I’ll give them the last word.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I think it’s clear -- 

THE COURT:  If this whole process strikes you as being somewhat

disagreeable, I would echo that comment.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I wouldn’t say that, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  I am very used to having cases that go to trial based upon

finite information, certainly more finite than what we have available to this point. 

And the potential for the Court to now award a summary judgment lies in trying to 

do essential justice and trying to assess what has and is frustrating that purpose.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, I would just indicate to the Court that at the time

that this was set for trial the defendants were ready to proceed to trial.  And based

on the evidence and the preparation of what was before the Court, it would have

been appropriate for the Court to strike the experts that plaintiff seeks to rely upon. 

Without their experts they cannot prove any damages.  It’s always been our position

they cannot prove any liability.  They’ve never proved it for one single driver.  And   

if the Court -- 

THE COURT:  Do you recall the countermotions?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Pardon me?

THE COURT:  Do you recall the countermotions by the plaintiff to -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  There were 25 omnibus -- 

THE COURT:  -- to strike the defendants’ experts or a portion of their

testimony?  I don’t recall exactly which.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I don’t know that they took a shot at the expert.

THE COURT:  What all of that motion work showed me was that this was
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going to be nothing more than a giant battle of experts, not even on their testimony,

which we often have.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But the problem has been that the Court didn’t hear that

motion in January when it was set or -- and has skipped over that.

THE COURT:  Do you think it would have become more clear to me by

hearing oral argument?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Has it become more clear to you?  I’m sorry?

THE COURT:  No.  I say do you think it would have been become more clear

to me that the purposes of the trial would be frustrated if it boiled down to the kind 

of not just battle of the experts but battle over which experts could even testify and

which were -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  It’s not so much that, Your Honor.  What I’m complaining

about is the order in which the Court is addressing these issues because the

defendants’ motion was on calendar, was briefed, was set for hearing -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- and was not heard.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  It was skipped over.  So now we are -- 

THE COURT:  Well, it wasn’t exactly skipped over.  Do you recall what the

Court said at the time?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I do, Your Honor.  Bad choice of word on my part.

THE COURT:  And that was why I went to Plan B with a special master.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But now we’re here on summary judgment relying on

those same expert reports which we are now naming as statistical samplings, which
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they are not.  It’s still unreliable data that should not be relied upon f or summary

judgment and that’s my frustration.

THE COURT:  You’re speaking of the data submitted by your clients.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But it’s not the data.  

THE COURT:  It’s not?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  It’s a summary prepared by an expert, Mr. Bass, and  

Mr. Bass is not qualified to be an expert.  And he -- 

THE COURT:  Now, I’m going to ask one more time then.  My understanding,

Mr. Greenberg, is that you submitted the information from the defendants to Mr.

Bass and that he simply did a mathematical calculation using the various numbers

that were contained in those files from the defense.

MR. GREENBERG:  Two pieces of information, Your Honor, for each person. 

The total amount they were paid every pay period; total amount of hours recorded

working per pay period.  Those were the two essential pieces of information. 

Everything else is just division.  You divide the hours into the wages.  It either met

the $7.25 or it didn’t, Your Honor.  If it didn’t, you know the deficiency.  It’s a very

simple formula.  Getting the information together because it’s voluminous -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- you know, we’re talking, as I said, 14,000 pay periods

for this 3-year period, you’re dealing with a large database of information, two large

Excel files, many, many lines.  More than 14,000 lines of Excel information because

each item of payment or deduction is a separate line, a separate entry for a pay

period.  So one person’s pay period in the original data has maybe 20 lines with

different entries in them, some are deductions, some are additions.  Mr. Bass took
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all of those -- 

THE COURT:  And it’s your contention that no expert or expertise, if you will,

or the sort that requires an expert opinion was either required or used in order to

assemble that and come up with the final numbers?

MR. GREENBERG:  I would agree, Your Honor.  This is not a question of

opinion, for example, where a medical expert will opine on the best way to treat       

a certain condition based upon the prevalent belief in the medical community or   

the field of experts who deal with that particular medical condition.  This is not a

question of expert opinion in that context.  This is a question simply of adding up

numbers.  I mean, Your Honor, if this was -- if these were ledger sheets as opposed

to presumably a million lines of Excel data, a clerk would sit down with a calculator. 

You understand, I mean, you know, you and I are old enough and perhaps defense

counsel as well to remember the old green ledger sheets and how people did

accounting in the old days, and in litigation matters they would have people come  

in with summaries that were compiled by hand.

THE COURT:   Guys with slide rules in a pocket protector.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.  And it would be the same thing, Your

Honor, except of course here we are dealing with a computer software, Excel, which

Mr. Bass used.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  And again, the details in his declaration, the purpose   

of Dr. Clauretie’s examination of his work was to verify that it was correct.  It was  

the work -- the end product was produced to defendants.  Defendants gave us     

the source material.  They’ve had every opportunity to examine the end product,     
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to compare it to the source material, to identify any errors in the end product, to

identify any inconsistencies in the end product from the source material.  They  

have identified none, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, go ahead, Ms. Rodriguez.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor, as Mr. Greenberg was speaking, I can

remember him arguing to the Discovery Commissioner in his motions to compel the

cab manager data because he argued to the Discovery Commissioner that the cab

manager data was the only data that he needed to determine the hours for these

cab drivers, the actual hours worked or even a statistical sampling of the hours.  We

turned over all that data.  You’ll see that in those Excel spreadsheets or in Mr. Bass’

testimony or in Mr. Bass’ affidavits he never even looked at the cab manager data. 

So now Mr. Greenberg is arguing to the Court we’re just using this QuickBooks data

and that’s all you need to grant summary judgment.  So I would reiterate to the

Court that those are conflicting statements and that’s a critical piece that is missing

to base summary judgment on.  By his own arguments cab manager data is one   

of the pieces that was never even considered in the calculation of the hours.  

Your Honor’s other question about the 9.21 hours, if  the Court is

inclined to grant that across the board, I’m not even sure where that comes from     

if no one has ever looked at the cab manager data.  The other agencies that have

come in, like the Department of Labor that came in and did an audit, they reached  

a different number after going through four years of spreadsheets.

THE COURT:  The two million dollar number?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Is it a million dollar number?

THE COURT:  Two million.
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No, I’m talking about the number of -- the average hours.

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.  Because I think the Court’s question was did he

feel comfortable relying upon a 9.21 average.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.  Right.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Again, I don’t know whose data we’re relying upon to

support that because neither Clauretie or Bass -- 

THE COURT:  Well, that’s a good point.  That’s a good point.  Let’s ask.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And the DOL has come up with a different figure.  I

believe their number was closer to 8.5.  And let me just add one thing about the

hours, Your Honor.  If you’re going to use averages for hours, those hours fluctuate

not only from year to year, obviously from driver to driver.  There are a lot of drivers

that merely work part-time as opposed to full time.  And they also greatly fluctuate

by the time of year.  As you can imagine, there are very slow periods in the industry

and then there’s peak periods in the spring.  So I do not believe that that’s an

appropriate representation, then, to apply for summary judgment.  Again, 9.21

across the board for, what are we talking, like six years or so?

THE COURT:  2007 to 2012.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  2007 to 2012?

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Five -- four years.

THE COURT:  Wouldn’t business have been better before Uber?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, for everyone else but Mr. Nady.  Mr. Nady is the

only -- A Cab is the only one who remained a restricted company until the end of
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2011 -- 2012?

MR. NADY:  When we were unrestricted?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes.

MR. NADY:  Last year.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Sorry.  No, not 2017.

MR. NADY:  The year before last.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  2016.  I’m sorry, Your Honor; too many years flying.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But about the same time that Uber came into the industry

was exactly when Mr. Nady had his restrictions lifted.  Otherwise he was restricted

to only serving residential areas, so he didn’t get to serve the lucrative areas and

he’s had the unfortunate luck that pretty much the same month that the Taxicab

Authority lifted his restrictions allowing him to service the airport and the Strip and

the more lucrative areas after ten years of being in business is the same time that

the Uber and Lyft people came into town, so.

THE COURT:  Yeah.  What about that -- what is the source again for 9.21?

MR. GREENBERG:  The source is the QuickBooks records, Your Honor,

which they again have testified under oath were contained for every pay period,   

the actual hours worked for the pay period by the drivers.

THE COURT:  So that number was used to calculate the 174,000 for the

2013 to 2015?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, it was, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  And let me explain.  There was discussion of the cab
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manager information.  The cab manager information is used for one purpose, which

is to know the number of shifts the driver worked because the QuickBooks records

do not tell us how many shifts the driver worked.  It only tells us he worked 65 hours,

83 hours, whatever it is in the pay period.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  It doesn’t tell us how many shifts.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  So for us to know how many shifts they worked, we

need to look at the cab manager record which shows the driver driving a cab on a

particular day.  The cab manager records also have in and out times, which average

around 11 hours in length between in and out, but there can be a dispute as to

whether they were actually working that entire 11 hours.  They could have been    

on a break.  We’re not getting into that, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Understood.

MR. GREENBERG:  We’re not referring to the cab manager records for any

other purpose than just to show that the driver worked a shift on a particular date,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  

All right, anything else, Ms. Rodriguez?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  I suppose I start and end with the notation that we are dealing

with important rights, important because the people of Nevada have said so by

virtue of inserting what would otherwise be a statutory provision into the Constitution

of the State of Nevada.  I have great respect for constitutions and constitutional law. 
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I believe that they form the basic backbone of the laws and government enumerated

therein, both for the United States of America and for the State of Nevada.  If the

people of this state have said that there is a minimum wage act which entitles

employees to be paid, you know, a certain amount, I believe it’s incumbent upon 

the Court to make sure that at the end of the day justice is done, even though the

justice that is done may turn out to be of a somewhat imprecise nature.

I’m satisfied that the rationale of the Mt. Clemens case not only

provides ample authority or justification, but provides an avenue for this Court to

attempt to do essential justice to the parties.  In a case in which the attempt to go

the usual route has been frustrated, Ms. Rodriguez has argued that the Court

cannot keep pointing to what the Court claims is the failure to maintain appropriate

records.  It seems to me that throughout the years that this case has been going  

on that this Court has bent over backwards in an attempt to be fair not only to the

drivers who have this constitutional right to lay claim to certain monies, but to a

defendant who is just operating a business and who gets met with these kinds of

claims and who must then try and put up a defense as best they can.  This Court

has attempted to be fair to both sides.

It is my determination that rather than provide any further risk to the

plaintiffs by requiring the sort of specificity, accuracy and what to lawyers is more

pure evidence as a basis for any decision, that the Court accept approximation as

countenanced by Mt. Clemens and a host of other cases.  Whether or not you put  

it on the basis that it can then shift the burden of proof to a defendant or you simply

say the motion has been put, notwithstanding the arguments of the defense, the

Court finds that no real basis has been put forward to put this into a triable issue
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within the context of approximation-type evidence, statistical evidence which may 

be subject to more -- or less precision than finite numbers contained in reports,

testified to by experts and receiving the gold star approval by a court.

I am not saying that I think that the evidence put forward by the

plaintiffs here is lacking or that it is inadmissible or that the Court cannot do

essential and fair justice between the parties by accepting it.  I am satisfied that

essential justice is being done here.  It’s less than what the plaintiffs wanted and

claimed that they were legally entitled to and more than what the defense would  

say has been proven.  

In light of the frustration at attempting to provide the means for more

articulate, finite evidence that we would all like to be able to depend on more, the

Court finds that it is best to grant the motion for summary judgment, partial motion

for summary judgment in that it certainly does not grant all of the relief requested  

by the plaintiffs, but it grants that it goes a long way towards satisfying the bulk of

the claims of these plaintiffs, of the plaintiff class.  

The alternatives open to the Court involve -- some of the alternatives

open to the Court involve using this Court’s power to really lean on one side either

by appointing a receiver or by appointing a separate special master that would be

locally based who would have the first duties of being given all of the financial

records of all defendants and determining whether or not these defendants truly

were -- are in a position that they cannot pay for a special master functioning.  Or  

of course more bizarre results, holding the defendant in contempt and placing Mr.

Nady in custody on a civil case, particularly unattractive to this Court, or anything

else.  
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I don’t find that there is another reasonable way to do essential justice

in this case.  And so, reluctantly, I grant the plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary

judgment to the extent that not only is the time period of 2013 to 2015 granted, but

using the rationale and the evidence propounded by the plaintiffs, which they in turn

claim is based on the evidence propounded by the defendants, to grant the same

summary judgment for the period of 2007 through 2012.  My understanding is that

that amounts to 174,000 and -- I don’t have the precise amount.  Do you have it?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, for the 2013 to 2015 period it is itemized  

in precise amounts to identified individuals.  It does total approximately 174,000.     

It is in the record.  What I would -- 

THE COURT:  You don’t know the precise amount?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, it is actually discussed in the motion submission. 

The precise amount is $174,839.

THE COURT:  That is the amount?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, excuse me, I -- Yes, Your Honor, that is the

amount that’s actually requested.  That’s at least $10 an hour -- at least $10 owed 

to each of these individuals.  If it’s below $10, we’re treating it as de minimis and 

not bothering the Court with entry of a judgment.

THE COURT:  And additionally in the amount of -- was the $804,000 figure

precise?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I believe you can certainly recite it and       

I would submit an order for Your Honor’s approval.  What I would like to do is to

submit the actual -- and I believe the Court should have entered in the record the

actual -- 
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THE COURT:  Calculations.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- pay periods and calculations for each individual with

the documentation.  As I inserted in the record about 400 pages with those 14,000

payroll periods analyzed -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- I would submit that in conjunction with a final order

that Your Honor would then approve, and there would be an appendix listing the

judgment amounts for each individual.

THE COURT:  All right.  Now, as to interim fees, I don’t -- am I incorrect, is

there any kind of evidence before the Court, any recitation, any numbers that would

show me even exactly how that was calculated?  I know that you have indicated

there’s about 50,000 in costs -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.

THE COURT:  -- and that I believe you argued that the hours for counsel 

was calculated at something like $85 an hour.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, I am looking at the submission I gave

the Court on November 2nd and I did submit a declaration.  This is at page 9 of that

submission.  This is the memorandum.  At that time I had stated that I personally

expended over 850 hours and $35,000 at that time in costs on this litigation.

THE COURT:  So the fee amount is how much and based on what hourly

rate?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, if -- 

THE COURT:  It is more complicated than that, isn’t it?

MR. GREENBERG:  If I was to be compensated for 500 hours, okay, of work,
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not 850 hours but 500 hours of work at $200 an hour, Your Honor, I believe that’s

$100,000.

THE COURT:  I’ll tell you what.  I think that we had better have that be the

subject of a separate motion.  

MR. GREENBERG:  That is Your Honor’s determination.  I mean, my point 

to Your Honor is that the -- 

THE COURT:  I’m not saying I don’t know whether interim fees should be

awarded because at this point I believe they should.  But I have to have a coherent

at least, basis, a number, a calculation.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, I did submit, again, a declaration      

in support of the fee request.  It was at -- it was attached as an exhibit to the

memorandum filed on November 2nd.  It begins at paragraph 13.  It says, “I have

reviewed the contemporaneous attorney time records maintained.  I have over 850

hours expended on the prosecution of this case; $27,200 for expert witness and

technical consultant costs; $6,200 for -- 

THE COURT:  Can you just give me the total for the fees and the hours that

were used for that?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, the fee request is $35,200.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  And this is itemized in paragraph 13 of my declaration -- 

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- that was submitted on November 2nd.  I had simply

asked for a round award of $100,000 in interim fees based on the fact that I had --

that at this time I had expended over 850 hours.  My time expenditures, I just
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checked my office the other day, are over 1,100 hours personally.  Ms. Sniegocki,

who is my associate, has expended over 500 hours on this case.  I understand

defendants -- 

THE COURT:  Do you know what your costs are to date?

MR. GREENBERG:  My costs are the $35,200 -- well, they’re more than the

$35,200, but we have the itemization as of November 2nd of $35,200.  Those are

the costs.

THE COURT:  For costs?

MR. GREENBERG:  For costs.  Expert -- $27,200 for expert witness costs

and -- 

THE COURT:  So you’re asking for $70,400?

MR. GREENBERG:  I’m asking for -- I had requested $135,000 in total,   

Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- just as a round number for costs and interim class

counsel fees.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  If Your Honor wishes to approach it differently, that’s

fine.  I was trying to just make this sort of simple and very minimal, Your Honor. 

Can I include an interim award in the order that I will present to Your Honor?

THE COURT:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. GREENBERG:  For the $135,000?

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. GREENBERG:  Okay.
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THE COURT:  I am satisfied that the -- now, this is based upon the -- a

provision in the minimum wage act itself?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, the minimum wage act empowers the Court          

to award any relief that it is empowered to act to award in any civil action of an

equitable injunctive damages type nature.  In respect to the award of interim counsel

fees, again, this is discussed at pages 9 and 10 and this has been approved of by

the United States Supreme Court.  I quote this case, Texas State Teachers v.

Garland, 489 U.S. 782.  That’s from 1989; another decision I cited from the D.C.

Circuit.  I mean, this is -- the Nevada Supreme Court has never addressed this issue.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  I want to be candid with the Court.  But the judicial

doctrine that in these cases where there is some measure of success for a class

prior to entry of final judgment justifies an award of interim fees is well recognized,

Your Honor.  There’s no contrary view of that.  So I think Your Honor is well within

your discretion to grant the award as I have requested as part of the immediate

judgment that will be entered.  We will be before your court on a post-judgment

motion for a full fee award, at which time I will submit a detailed itemization of       

all of the hours, justification for a lodestar fee in hourly rate.  That will of course     

be presented to defendants, who will have an opportunity to dispute the actual

calculation of all fees to be awarded.

THE COURT:  All right, here’s what we’re going to do on that.  I’m going      

to review the authority that you gave me in your motion and I will make the

determination of whether and in what amount interim fees will be awarded.  

MR. GREENBERG:  I trust -- 
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THE COURT:  So I make no ruling from the bench on that today.

MR. GREENBERG:  I trust Your Honor will issue a minute order -- 

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- this week or soon on that.  

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. GREENBERG:  Okay, because I would like to obviously submit the final

order to Your Honor in accordance with the other rulings you’ve made today so we

can have a final judgment entered appropriately.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  And again, it is my understanding that the directions

you’re giving us today is to fashion an order that will constitute a final judgment in

this case pursuant to your rulings today.

THE COURT:  Oh, thank you.  That -- we need to make something more

finite then.  You’re saying that the Court could then simply dissolve the class and

allow those former class members who wish to to go forward on their own for any

higher amounts?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, the judgment is going to be fashioned in

individual amounts for each individual class member pursuant to the approach -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- Your Honor has discussed with us here today.  That

approach is partially documented already in the record on the 2013 to 2015 period

where we have the 14,000 pay periods and we also have a compilation of amounts

to each of about 350 people, you know, that are found from those 14,000 pay

periods that were analyzed.  We will do the same thing for the other time period. 
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There will be individual judgments entered in individual amounts for each class

member pursuant to that approach, Your Honor, and that will be incorporated as  

an appendix to the order Your Honor will sign.  It will constitute a final judgment of

the Court.  To the extent that any class member asserts they are owed amounts

under the minimum wage act or under 608.040, there were 608.040 claims that

were made, penalty claims in this case.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  I believe it would be more efficient to simply allow those

claims to be dismissed without prejudice and if any class member wishes to pursue

those claims or pursue a claim that they are entitled to compensation in excess of

what the Court has determined here today, they will be -- 

THE COURT:  And this would -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  -- they would be free to do so.

THE COURT:  And this would be a final judgment as to all defendants?

MR. GREENBERG:  It would be a final judgment as to all defendants and   

as to the class and as to the class representatives, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  What happens to, for example, the conspiracy claim?

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, that would be dismissed without prejudice.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  If some individual wishes to assert that they were -- 

argued in respect to that -- when you’re talking about the conspiracy claim -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- let me withdraw -- let me backtrack a little bit because

there’s really -- there’s an alter ego claim, there’s a question of misuse of the
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corporate form -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- which I guess is what you’re referring to as the

conspiracy claim.  As I stated, Your Honor, that claim, the claims against Mr. Nady

personally -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- have previously been severed in this case.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  So we enter final judgment in the form I’m proposing,

that is a final judgment in this case in respect to the corporate defendants.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  Mr. Nady is not subject to that judgment and there would

be no need for the claims against Mr. Nady to proceed.  The Court could issue a

stay of those claims pending entry of the final judgment and we’ll see whether the

final judgment is satisfied, if this is worked out between the parties.  I think that

would be an appropriate approach and we’ll take it from there, Your Honor.  If for

some reason the final judgment is not satisfied, this isn’t worked out, then the 

claims against Mr. Nady will have to proceed separately with separate evidentiary

considerations and separate issues to be pursued, but that’s a separate case,   

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. WALL:  Severing claims doesn’t make it a separate case, Your Honor,

and that would not be a final judgment under any interpretation under Nevada law

that I’ve been familiar with in my practice.
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THE COURT:  The part about the claims against Mr. Nady, or are you talking

about the whole thing?

MR. WALL:  I’m talking about the whole thing.  A final judgment is a judgment

that resolves all claims against all parties that were asserted.  Severing claims is just

a matter of the method by which claims are decided.  It doesn’t change the matter of

whether or not you’ve got a final judgment.  If you bifurcate the case, you don’t get 

a final judgment until you’ve done the second half of the bifurcated case.  You don’t

get multiple final judgments in Nevada.  That’s absolutely clear.  Lee v. GNLV would

be the case to look up for that.

THE COURT:  Impressive.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, in the Valdez v. Cox case, which was

before Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  Oh, wow.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor may remember this, actually.  I appealed

Your Honor’s order because I disagreed with a certain portion of it.  And Your Honor

had complied with my request for severance in that case and I had waited until the

claims against the last remaining defendants were resolved and then I tried to

appeal Your Honor’s order in respect to the prior severed case -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- and the supreme court said I was untimely.  They said

that once the severance was effected by the district court in respect to that party

that was a final judgment and I had allowed my time to lapse.  So I learned my

lesson there quite painfully in that case, Your Honor, and that is of course contrary

to the outcome that was just hypothesized by Mr. Wall.
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MR. WALL:  There’s a difference between severing cases and making two

cases out of them when you’ve have cases that are consolidated and then you

sever them.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. WALL:  Then once they’re consolidated they’re one case and when

they’re severed they’re separate cases.  Here we’ve bifurcated.  That’s a completely

different thing.  You can’t make one case and sever it into two cases. So we have

bifurcated here the issues that have been resolved, and although the mistake that

Mr. Greenberg made in that case is unfortunate, it doesn’t justify the argument he’s

made in this case as to finality.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, how do you propose that the Court resolve  

this dispute?  

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I will proceed as I think it’s best for the

class.  I would ask that the Court enter the final judgment, sever -- the order that      

I will present to the Court will enter final judgment in accordance with what we’ve

discussed.

THE COURT:  Well, okay, but -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  And we’ll sever the claims against Mr. Nady and I would

propose that the Court also stay those claims for a period of time pending resolution

of the judgment.  If the judgment is satisfied -- 

THE COURT:  What I’m suggesting is I will need to see some authority from

both sides on the issue of whether or not there can be a f inal judgment at this

juncture in this case.  That’s the dispute, right?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, Mr. Wall is saying you can’t enter a
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final judgment.  I mean, presumably he wouldn’t take that position if we dismiss   

the claims against Mr. Nady.

MR. WALL:  I didn’t say you couldn’t enter a final judgment.  I said the

judgment that he described wouldn’t be -- in my opinion would not be a final

judgment.

THE COURT:  Because it’s only against some of the parties and not all of

them.  Okay.

MR. WALL:  You would have to do something to finalize, to make that

judgment final so that all claims against all parties in the action are resolved.

THE COURT:  So if he was willing to dismiss any other claims -- 

MR. WALL:  Yes.

THE COURT:  -- then it could be a final judgment.

MR. GREENBERG:  I understand that is the construction the defendants

would prefer because that would mean my alternatives would be to get a final

judgment against A Cab, which I need, or I have to then dismiss the claims against

Mr. Nady.  But again, Your Honor, Your Honor has the power to -- I mean, there’s

also leave it to Rule 54.  Your Honor is probably familiar with this where an

immediate appeal may be entered where summary judgment is granted against

some but not all parties.  District court has the power to certify a final judgment   

and then the supreme court will hear an appeal.  It’s the same type of thing that   

I’m proposing here with the severance of the claim against Mr. Nady as occurred   

in the Valdez case, as I was relating to Your Honor.  So, Your Honor, we -- look. 

Your Honor, we can submit the authorities on this -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.
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MR. GREENBERG:  -- in connection with the proposed order, okay.

THE COURT:  Yep.  All right, let’s do that.  You give me your authorities   

with the proposed order and then defendants will have 10 days to submit any

countervailing authorities.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor, what is the finding that pertains to the 2007

to 2012?  Because it’s my understanding the Court is entering summary judgment

on that period as well.

THE COURT:  That’s correct.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And it’s based on 9.21 average hours?

THE COURT:  Yes.  It’s based on the argument put forward by the plaintiffs’

counsel that that number is accurate, and so that you wind up with not only resolving

the 2013 to 2015 claim, but also the 2007 to 2012.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And do we know what that number is?

THE COURT:  $804,000 was the calculation that was just argued in the

briefing, but -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  That is the approximate number based on the

calculations that I’ve run.  I have to get them done precisely.  We are not going to --

Your Honor, we’re not going to request judgment in amounts of less than $10 for

any individual because that would seem unduly burdensome and unnecessary.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  But we’re going to specify amounts in total, which  

would be that eight hundred or so thousand -- eight hundred thousand number you

mentioned for that period.  But they’re going to be itemized by individual, supported

by introduction into the record of the Court -- 
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THE COURT:  Of the evidence.  

MR. GREENBERG:  -- of the payroll records as we’ve discussed that have

been analyzed and so forth, Your Honor.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I didn’t hear that number earlier.

THE COURT:  Oh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That’s why -- I heard the Court indicating 174,000.  So 

it’s eight hundred -- approximately eight hundred and four thousand, but we’re going

to have Mr. Bass do further calculations to come up with a figure, is that what I’m

hearing?

MR. GREENBERG:  There are no further calculations.  The model was

already constructed.  They have the spreadsheet, Your Honor.  It’s just a question of

putting in that 9.21 hours.  The model, the Excel file is discussed in Dr. Clauretie’s

report.  I mean, he verified that it works correctly and that you can do this and that

you can do it accurately.  You can put in that average of -- or a different average if

one wished and get the resulting approximation in compliance with -- 

THE COURT:  With the briefing that you’re going to include with your

proposed judgment, will you put your calculation basis on the other amount, the

2007 to 2012?

MR. GREENBERG:  Absolutely, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And the defendants will have -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  I will -- I mean, there’s going to be a several hundred

page submission that I’m going to want to get in the record here of those pay

periods -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.
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MR. GREENBERG:  -- and the compilation, as was done already in the

record on the other 3-year, the 2013 to 2015 period.  I believe that should be in the

record of the case.

THE COURT:  And then the defendants may have 10 days to submit any

countervailing authorities or argument if you say that it’s improper.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, that’s why I was asking because what I heard him

say was that the calculations had to be performed.  So I was asking who’s going to

prepare these, is it Mr. Greenberg or is it Mr. Bass?  Because, again, if the Court   

is relying upon these to grant summary judgment -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- then he needs to attach some kind of declaration or

affidavit or something.  If he’s doing it himself, if he says it’s already done, I’m just

plugging in the numbers, then we need to know that that’s Mr. Greenberg’s figures

that are going to be submitted to the Court.

THE COURT:  So in your submission you will provide the methodology for

that calculation.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, I will, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And the -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  And defendants have the spreadsheet I am referring   

to and they will be able to duplicate everything I do because they can put in that

number, they can see the data that’s being processed and the calculations being

made.  So they will have a full opportunity to review that and be sure the math is

done correctly and so forth.

THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else?
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